# INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE PESQUISAS DA AMAZÔNIA - INPA PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ECOLOGIA

# FÓSFORO RESTRINGE RESPOSTAS ALOMÉTRICAS, MAS NÃO FISIOLÓGICAS, DE PLÂNTULAS DE *Inga edulis* Mart. SOB CRESCIMENTO EM CO<sub>2</sub> ELEVADO

# GABRIELA USHIDA NEVES

MANAUS, AMAZONAS

MAIO/2021

## GABRIELA USHIDA NEVES

# FÓSFORO RESTRINGE RESPOSTAS ALOMÉTRICAS, MAS NÃO FISIOLÓGICAS, DE PLÂNTULAS DE *Inga edulis* Mart. SOB CRESCIMENTO EM CO<sub>2</sub> ELEVADO

Orientador: DR. CARLOS ALBERTO NOBRE QUESADA

Co-orientadores: Dr<sup>a</sup>. Sabrina Garcia Dr. Vinicius Fernandes

> Dissertação apresentada ao Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Mestre em Ecologia

Manaus, Amazonas

Maio, 2021



ATA DA DEFESA PÚBLICA DA DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO DO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ECOLOGIA DO INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE PESQUISAS DA AMAZÔNIA.

Aos 25 dias do mês de Maio do ano de 2021, às 13h30min, por videoconferência. Reuniu-se a Comissão Examinadora de Defesa Pública, composta pelos seguintes membros: Dr. Bart Kruijt, da Universidade de Wageningen - WUR, o Dr. Samuel Cordeiro Vitor Martins, da Universidade Federal de Viçosa - UF-V, e o Dr. João Victor Rodrigues, da Universidade Federal do Amazonas - UFAM, tendo como suplentes a Dra. Flávia Delgado Santana, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia - INPA, e o Dr. David Montenegro Lapola, da Universidade Estadual de Campinas - UNICAMP, sob a presidência do orientador, a fim de proceder à arguição pública do trabalho de DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO da GABRIELA USHIDA NEVES, initiulado: "FÓSFORO RESTRINGE RESPOSTAS ALOMÉTRICAS, MAS NÃO FISIOLÓGICAS, DE PLÂNTULAS DE *INGA EDULIS* MART. SOB CRESCIMENTO EM CO<sub>2</sub> ELEVADO", orientada pelo Dr. Carlos Alberto Nobre Quesada, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia - INPA, co-orientada pela Dra. Sabrina Garcia, do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia - INPA, e pelo Dr. Vinícius Fernandes de Souza, da Universidade do Estado do Amazonas - UEA.

Após a exposição, a discente foi arguida oralmente pelos membros da Comissão Examinadora, tendo recebido o conceito final:

x	APROVADA	REPROVADO (A)
x	POR UNANIMIDADE	POR MAIORIA

Nada mais havendo, foi lavrada a presente ata, que, após lida e aprovada, foi assinada pelos membros da Comissão Examinadora.

DR. BART KRUIJT

DR. SAMUEL CORDEIRO VITOR MARTINS

DR. JOÃO VICTOR F. C. RODRIGUES

Liner

DRA. FLÁVIA DELGADO SANTANA

DR. DAVID MONTENEGRO LAPOLA

(Coordenação PPG-ECO/INPA)

INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE PESQUISAS DA AMAZÔNIA - INPA PROGRAMA DE PÔS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ECOLOGIA - PPE ECO Av. Antra Augin, nº 2936, Bairo - Periópilia Manaus-AM, CEP, 68:087-375 She. Http://pairos.cov.br e-mail.gon.ecologia/trosgrad.inpa.gov.br N518f Neves, Gabriela Ushida Fósforo restringe respostas alométricas, mas não fisiológicas, de plântulas de *Inga edulis* Mart. Sob crescimento em Co2 elevado /Gabriela Ushida Neves; orientador Carlos Alberto Nobre Quesada; coorientadores Sabrina Garcia; Vinicius Fernandes. - Manaus:[s. 1.], 2022.

> 1.3 MB 75 p. : il. color.

Dissertação (Mestrado - Programa de Pós Graduação em Ecologia.) -Coordenação do Programa de Pós-Graduação, INPA, 2022.

1. *Inga edulis*. 2. Mudanças climáticas, 3. Ingá-cipó. I. Quesada, Carlos Alberto Nobre. II. Garcia, Sabrina. III. Fernandes, Vinicius. IV. Título

CDD 583.22

## Sinopse:

Estudou-se os efeitos do aumento da concentração de dióxido de carbono (CO<sub>2</sub>) e adição de fósforo (P) em respostas fisiológicas e alométricas em plântulas de uma espécie de leguminosa (*Inga edulis* Mart.) crescendo experimentalmente em câmaras de topo aberto instaladas no subbosque de uma floresta primária de terra-firme na Amazônia central.

**Palavras-chave:** Mudanças climáticas, Amazônia central, câmaras de topo aberto, metabolismo primário de carbono, A<sub>sat</sub>, R<sub>dark</sub>, crescimento acima do solo.

# DEDICATÓRIA

Dedico esta dissertação à minha tia, Elza, que partiu muito cedo, deixando ainda uma vida inteira de saudades.

# AGRADECIMENTOS

Ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia do Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia (INPA) pela infraestrutura física e administrativa que me possibilitaram desenvolver meu projeto. À Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) pela bolsa de estudos que me permitiu morar em Manaus durante os anos de mestrado. Aos programas Grande de Escala da Biosfera-Atmosfera na Amazônia (LBA) e AmazonFACE por financiarem minha estadia e atividades de campo e de laboratório pertinentes a esta dissertação.

Ao número gigantesco de pessoas que me ajudaram de alguma forma ao longo desses mais de três anos. Ainda olho para trás sem acreditar em quanta sorte tive por tantas pessoas maravilhosas terem cruzado meu caminho.

Aos colegas de projeto, Alaci, Amandandinha, Carol, Ioka, Ju e Yaguinho por toda ajuda, nos maus e bons momentos, em campo. A Rosi, Elizeu, França, Raimundo e Marivaldo, não tenho palavras para agradecer todo o carinho e cuidado que vocês demonstraram! Ao Lu, pelas idas e vindas da ZF-2. Vocês são os principais responsáveis pela realização desse projeto. Agradeço também aos demais colegas do Laboratório de Ciclos Biogeoquímicos, pelas conversas, (muitos) cafés e discussões que engrandeceram minha experiência aqui.

Ao Taka, por todo o suporte logístico ao projeto e a este projeto. Algum dia ainda vamos descobrir como você consegue fazer tantas coisas ao mesmo tempo!

Aos meus orientadores (extra)oficiais: Beto, Sassá, Vini, Iza e Tomas, que me ajudaram e guiaram, cada um a seu tempo, cada um a sua forma. Mesmo aos que chegaram depois, vocês foram essenciais para a construção desse trabalho. Antes de todo o conhecimento científico compartilhado, vocês foram exemplo de paciência e resiliência e me fizeram crescer como pesquisadora.

Aos de fora do laboratório, que se dispuseram a ajudar e ensinar, mesmo nas suas horas mais atribuladas, a generosidade de vocês jamais será esquecida.

Aos meus colegas da turma por estarem comigo em incontáveis momentos de alegrias e dificuldades ao longo desses três anos. Aos amigos que já faziam parte de minha vida, que, mesmo a quilômetros ou oceanos de distância, me ensinam diariamente que amizade não se mede em proximidade física. Às vezes me pego tentando entender como consegui ter por perto pessoas tão pacientes e queridas.

Às minhas companheiras de aventuras e desventuras, Vanessa e Nathi. Sem vocês, jamais teria conseguido finalizar esta dissertação.

E, por fim, aos meus pais e meu irmão. Vocês sabem de tudo.

# **EPÍGRAFO**

"You once told me that the human eye is god's loneliest creation. How so much of the world passes through the pupil and still it holds nothing. The eye, alone in its socket, doesn't even know there's another one, just like it, an inch away, just as hungry, as empty. Opening the front door to the first

snowfall of my life, you whispered, Look."

*-On Earth, we're briefly gorgeous,* Ocean Voung

# **RESUMO**

A floresta Amazônica é a maior floresta contínua tropical do mundo, exercendo importante papel no ciclo do carbono (C), ao assimilar CO<sub>2</sub> pela fotossíntese e fixá-lo em biomassa vegetal, representando um sumidouro de C. Nesse sentido, o aumento da concentração atmosférica de CO<sub>2</sub> nos últimos séculos pode trazer consequências, ainda pouco compreendidas, para o metabolismo e crescimento de plantas nessa região. Estudos realizados em ambientes temperados, onde há baixa disponibilidade de nitrogênio (N) no solo, mostraram estímulo à fotossíntese e crescimento em plantas submetidas a CO<sub>2</sub> elevado (eCO2), o que ficou conhecido como efeito de fertilização por CO<sub>2</sub>. Na bacia Amazônica, devido à variação na idade dos solos e aos processos de intemperismo, existe um gradiente oeste-leste de disponibilidade de fósforo (P). Nas regiões com menor concentração de P no solo (leste), como a Amazônia Central, a limitação por P tem o potencial de restringir a fertilização por CO<sub>2</sub>, afetando as respostas fisiológicas e de crescimento em ambientes de eCO<sub>2</sub>. Nesse contexto, nós investigamos as respostas de variáveis fisiológicas (assimilação líquida (Asat), fotorrespiração (PR), respiração foliar no claro (R<sub>light</sub>) e no escuro (R<sub>dark</sub>)) e alométricas acima do solo (altura e diâmetro de copa e da planta inteira, área foliar total, espessura foliar e taxa relativa de crescimento) de plântulas de Inga edulis Mart. submetidas a eCO<sub>2</sub> e adição de P, utilizando câmaras de topo aberto instaladas no sub-bosque de uma floresta primária de terra-firme na Amazônia Central. Nossos resultados mostraram ausência de interação entre eCO<sub>2</sub> e P, mas com um padrão claro de efeito significativo de eCO<sub>2</sub> no metabolismo (variáveis fisiológicas) e de P no crescimento e desenvolvimento (variáveis alométricas) das plântulas, o que indica que um papel diferencial de P nas respostas de plantas crescendo sob eCO<sub>2</sub>, de acordo com a natureza do processo. Assim, se outras espécies na mesma região apresentarem respostas similares a eCO<sub>2</sub>, isso poderia trazer implicações importantes para o ciclo de C.

# ABSTRACT

The Amazon rainforest is the largest continuous tropical forest in the world. It plays an important role in the carbon (C) cycle, by assimilating CO<sub>2</sub> through photosynthesis, fixing it in plant biomass and working then as a terrestrial C sink. As [CO<sub>2</sub>] rises, it brings potential consequences to plant metabolism and growth. Studies in temperate regions, where soil nitrogen (N) availability is low, showed stimulation of photosynthesis and growth in plants exposed to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] (eCO<sub>2</sub>), which is known as CO<sub>2</sub> fertilization. In the Amazon basin, due to variation in soil age and weathering processes, phosphorus availability (P) is distributed in an west-east gradient. In regions with lower P concentrations (east), such as Central Amazon, its limitation has the potential to restrict CO<sub>2</sub> fertilization, affecting physiological and growth responses to eCO<sub>2</sub>. In that context, we investigated the responses of physiological variables (Net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation, Photorespiration, Light and dark leaf respiration), linked to the primary carbon metabolism, and allometric variables (whole-plant and crown height and diameter, total leaf area, leaf thickness and relative growth rate) of seedlings of Inga edulis Mart. Our results showed that eCO<sub>2</sub> had an effect on carbon metabolism whereas high-P supply affected mostly aboveground growth and development (allometric variables), which indicates that P may have a differential impact on the responses of plants growing under eCO<sub>2</sub>, depending on the nature of the processes. In that case, if other species in the region present similar responses to  $eCO_2$ , it could indicate major implications to C sink activity in the future.

# SUMÁRIO

1. DEDICATÓRIA	6
2. AGRADECIMENTOS	7
3. EPÍGRAFO	8
4. RESUMO	9
5. ABSTRACT	10
6. LISTA DE ABREVIAÇÕES E SIGLAS	13
7. INTRODUÇÃO GERAL	15
8. OBJETIVOS	21
Objetivo geral	21
Objetivos específicos	21
9. CAPÍTULO ÚNICO	22
Phosphorus constrains allometric but not physiological responses in seedlings of <i>Inga ea</i> growing under elevated CO <sub>2</sub>	<i>lulis</i> Mart. 22
Introduction	22
Material and Methods	25
Study site	25
Experimental design	27
Environmental characterization of OTCs	27
Gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements	28
Allometric measurements	30
Data analyses	30
Gas exchange data	30
Aboveground plant size and relative growth rate	31
Statistical analyses	31
Results	32
Treatment effect on physiological variables	32
Treatment effects on allometric variables	33
Discussion	34
Leaf gas exchange responds to $eCO_2$ but not to P addition	34
Relationships between carbon loss processes at the leaf level	36
Phosphorus limitation on aboveground carbon allocation	38
Conclusion	39
Literature cited	39

11

Figures and tables	51
Supporting Information	57
10. CONCLUSÃO	64
11. REFERÊNCIAS	64

# LISTA DE ABREVIAÇÕES E SIGLAS

Variable (abbreviation)	Definition	Unit
A <sub>net</sub>	Net CO <sub>2</sub> assimilation	$\mu$ mol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
A <sub>sat</sub>	Net CO <sub>2</sub> assimilation at saturating light	$\mu$ mol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
Ca	Ambient air CO <sub>2</sub> partial concentration	µmol CO <sub>2</sub> mol <sup>-1</sup>
Ci	Intercellular CO <sub>2</sub> partial concentration	µmol CO <sub>2</sub> mol <sup>-1</sup>
CD	Crown diameter	cm
СН	Crown height	cm
D	Seedling's diameter	cm
F	Steady-state fluorescence	-
Fs	Steady-state fluorescence at the time of	
	measurement	-
Fm'	Maximum fluorescence achieved by	
	artificially quenching PSII with a saturating	-
	pulse	
Fm	Dark-adapted maximum fluorescence during	
	a saturating pulse	-
Fo'	Minimum fluorescence during a dark pulse	-
g <sub>sw</sub>	Stomatal conductance to water vapor	µmol H <sub>2</sub> O mol <sup>-1</sup>
Н	Seedling's height	cm
J	Electron (e <sup>-</sup> ) transport rate through PSII	$\mu$ mol e <sup>-</sup> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
Lth	Leaf thickness	mm
MLA	Mean leaf area	cm <sup>2</sup>
NPQ	Non-photochemical quenching, as an	
	estimate of the apparent rate constant heat	-
	loss from PSII	
PPFD	Photosynthetic photon flux density	µmol photon m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
P <sub>R</sub>	Photorespiration	$\mu$ mol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
qP	Photochemical quenching, as an estimate of	
	the proportion of photosystem II (PSII) open	-
	centers	
R <sup>2</sup>	Coefficient of determination of a linear	_
	model	
R <sup>2</sup> fixed	Coefficient of determination of fixed effects	
	calculated from a generalized linear mixed	-
	model	
R <sup>2</sup> random	Coefficient of determination of random	
	effects calculated from a generalized linear	-
	mixed model	
R	Leaf respiration ( $CO_2$ release other than	umol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
	from P <sub>R</sub> )	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Rdark	Leaf respiration in the darkness	$\mu$ mol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
K <sub>light</sub>	Leat respiration in the light	$\mu$ mol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
RuBP	Rubisco's substrate, stands for ribulose-1,5-	-
	biphosphate	
S	Lumped parameter as described in Yin <i>et al</i> .	-
	(2009)	

TLA	Total leaf area	cm <sup>2</sup>
Vo	Rubisco oxygenation rate	$\mu$ mol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>
$\Phi_{PSII}$	Quantum efficiency of PSII e- flow assessed from chlorophyll fluorescence measurements	mol e <sup>-</sup> (mol photon) <sup>-1</sup>
ρ	Spearman's correlation coefficient	-

Rubisco: Ribulose-1,5-biphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase

# INTRODUÇÃO GERAL

A concentração atmosférica de CO<sub>2</sub> [CO<sub>2</sub>] tem aumentado nas últimas décadas, sendo comumente associada a ações antrópicas, como queima de combustíveis fósseis, mudança de uso da terra e perda de cobertura vegetal (Hönisch et al. 2009, Pagani et al. 2009). De acordo com o Painel Intergovernamental de Mudanças Climáticas (IPCC 2014), é previsto que a [CO<sub>2</sub>] aumente ainda mais, de 397 para 700 ppm até o fim do século XXI, contribuindo para o aquecimento global e mudanças no clima. Entretanto, durante a maior parte de sua história evolutiva recente, a vegetação terrestre foi exposta a [CO<sub>2</sub>] inferiores às atuais e previstas (Lüthi et al. 2008, Leakey and Lau 2012), o que gera incertezas sobre como as plantas responderão a essa mudança. Considerando que o CO<sub>2</sub> é um dos principais substratos para a fotossíntese, estudos sugerem que os aumentos observados e projetados em sua concentração podem ter impacto positivo e direto no metabolismo, crescimento e produtividade de plantas ao redor do mundo (Cernusak et al. 2013). Entretanto, outros fatores como a quantidade de fósforo (P) no solo, podem limitar a capacidade de as plantas assimilarem CO<sub>2</sub>, trazendo incertezas sobre as repostas a [CO<sub>2</sub>] (eCO<sub>2</sub>). Diante dessa perspectiva, tem-se buscado compreender como plantas responderão ao aumento de [CO<sub>2</sub>] principalmente no que diz respeito aos processos de aquisição e alocação de C (Cernusak et al. 2011).

Os efeitos de eCO<sub>2</sub> no metabolismo e crescimento de plantas têm sido bastante estudados nas últimas quatro décadas (Drake et al. 1997, Ainsworth and Long 2005, Ainsworth and Rogers 2007, Ainsworth and Long 2021). No geral, as plantas respondem positivamente a eCO<sub>2</sub>, com maior capacidade fotossintética (fertilização por CO<sub>2</sub>), maior taxa metabólica e maior crescimento, apesar de essas respostas serem dependentes das características das espécies e condições ambientais (Drake et al. 1997, Ainsworth and Long 2005, Norby et al. 2005, Ainsworth and Rogers 2007, Norby and Zak 2011). O aumento da [CO<sub>2</sub>] pode estimular a assimilação líquida de CO<sub>2</sub> (A<sub>net</sub>) ao aumentar a disponibilidade de C para Rubisco e assim, aumentar a carboxilação de ribulose-1,5-bifosfato (RuBP), enquanto simultaneamente suprime a fotorrespiração (P<sub>R</sub>) (Farquhar et al. 1980, Long 1991, Drake et al. 1997). Os aumentos observados em A<sub>net</sub> são comumente acompanhados de diminuição de condutância estomática (g<sub>sw</sub>) em plantas de metabolismo C<sub>3</sub> (Drake et al. 1997, Leakey et al. 2012). Entretanto, o grau em que A<sub>net</sub> aumenta em eCO<sub>2</sub> e é sustentada, aumentando também o crescimento da planta, depende de processos complexos envolvidos com o metabolismo primário de carbono ao nível foliar. Tais processos, dentre os quais os dominantes são P<sub>R</sub> e respiração mitocondrial (R),

resultam comumente na liberação de CO<sub>2</sub> fixado pela fotossíntese e podem ditar quanto C estará disponível para a planta usar em outros processos, influenciando o balanço de C na planta inteira (Productivity 1989, Kromer 1995, Hurry et al. 1996, O'Leary et al. 2019).

A  $P_R$  é um processo que envolve uma série de reações, começando com a oxigenação de RuBP no cloroplasto, ao invés de sua carboxilação pela Rubisco, com reações subsequentes no peroxissomo e na mitocôndria, onde CO<sub>2</sub> é então liberado como resultado de descarboxilação da glicina (Hurry et al. 2005). Essa reação de oxigenação representa de 15 a 35% das taxas líquidas de fotossíntese (Sharkey 1988, Atkin et al. 2006) e é responsável por mais descarboxilação na luz do que a respiração (Pärnik and Keerberg 1995), sendo o fluxo majoritário de descarboxilação em plantas C3 (Hurry et al. 2005). A supressão de  $P_R$  em eCO<sub>2</sub> costuma ser apontada como a principal razão para estímulo de  $A_{net}$  em eCO<sub>2</sub>, já que, com mais CO<sub>2</sub> próximo aos sítios ativos da Rubisco, a afinidade da enzima por CO<sub>2</sub> aumenta, levando a maior carboxilação em detrimento de oxigenação (Farquhar et al. 1980, Long 1991). Além disso,  $P_R$  interage diretamente com a respiração foliar, compartilhando intermediários com o ciclo do ácido tricarboxílico (ciclo TCA) na mitocôndria (Hurry et al. 2005). Por causa de suas interações com esses dois importantes processos, a  $P_R$  pode ter grande impacto no balanço de carbono foliar (Hurry et al. 2005).

A respiração mitocondrial é responsável por produzir moléculas energéticas (ex. ATP), poder redutor (ex. NADPH) e esqueletos de carbono que serão usados na manutenção celular e biossíntese (Amthor 1991). De acordo com Loveys et al. (2002), entre 30-80% de todo  $CO_2$ fixado pela fotossíntese a nível individual é respirado de volta à atmosfera diariamente. Mesmo que a respiração não ocorra somente em órgãos fotossintetizantes, aproximadamente metade de toda a respiração que ocorre na planta acontece nas folhas, considerando os dois tipos de R (Ayub et al. 2014). A respiração mitocondrial foliar ocorre tanto na luz ( $R_{light}$ ), simultaneamente à fotossíntese e à fotorrespiração, quanto no escuro ( $R_{dark}$ ). Entretanto, suas contribuições relativas à respiração total não são as mesmas, uma vez que R é inibida pela luz, resultando em menores taxas respiratórias na luz do que no escuro (Brooks and Farquhar 1985, Kromer 1995, Tcherkez et al. 2008). O grau no qual R é inibida pela luz varia bastante, de 17 a 66% (Ayub et al. 2014), com a inibição pela luz estritamente ligada às taxas subjacentes de R<sub>dark</sub> e aos outros processos que ocorrem na folha durante o dia, como A<sub>net</sub> e P<sub>R</sub> (Wang et al. 2001, Atkin et al. 2006, Tcherkez et al. 2008, Ayub et al. 2011). As respostas de R a eCO<sub>2</sub> variam muito, de acordo com idade foliar, condições ambientais no momento da medição, métodos utilizados, etc. (Way et al. 2015, Xu et al. 2015, Dusenge et al. 2019). Uma das razões para essa variação é a existência de duas vias principais reguladoras do metabolismo respiratório: a oferta de substrato (ex. fotossintatos) e a demanda por produtos respiratórios. Maiores concentrações de fotossintatos fornecidas por maior A<sub>net</sub> têm sido correlacionadas com maiores taxas respiratórias, como resultado de maior disponibilidade de substrato (Azcón-Bieto and Osmond 1983). Por outro lado, a demanda por produtos respiratórios é relacionada tanto ao aumento de R, para acompanhar maiores taxas metabólicas e de crescimento, como também a reduções em R, amplamente ligadas a menor consumo de ATP, NADPH e esqueletos de carbono (Amthor 1991, Wullschleger et al. 1994).

Na luz, as maiores liberações de CO<sub>2</sub> mitocondriais provêm da P<sub>R</sub> e da R<sub>light</sub>. As necessidades celulares por energia e intermediários de carbono podem ser satisfeitos por esses dois processos, uma vez que equilibram as necessidades da célula e respondem plasticamente às demandas metabólicas (Hurry et al. 2005). Mesmo que as vias de descarboxilação sejam bem compartimentalizadas em relação aos intermediários e carbono, a interação das vias na mitocôndria sugere uma possível ligação, especialmente em relação à inibição de R pela luz (Wang et al. 2001, Hurry et al. 2005). De fato, essa ligação foi mostrada em alguns estudos (ex. (Tcherkez et al. 2008, Ayub et al. 2011, Crous et al. 2012), apesar de ainda não ser inteiramente compreendida. Tais estudos diferem na direção da relação entre esses dois processos, com os mecanismos subjacentes ainda incertos. Maiores taxas de R<sub>light</sub> (menor inibição pela luz) têm sido relacionadas a maiores taxas de P<sub>R</sub> (Crous et al. 2012, Griffin and Turnbull 2013, Ayub et al. 2014) possivelmente como resultado de maior demanda por transferidores de NH<sub>2</sub> durante a recuperação de intermediários do ciclo fotorrespiratório (Tcherkez et al. 2008). Por outro lado, P<sub>R</sub> também tem sido associada a menores taxas de R<sub>light</sub> (Wang et al. 2001, Zaragoza-Castells et al. 2007), sendo explicada pela dependência de reduções fotorrespiratórias de atividade de enzimas respiratórias e transição para um ciclo TCA parcial na luz (Tcherkez et al. 2005). Como é esperado que P<sub>R</sub> seja suprimida por eCO<sub>2</sub>, tal mudança impactaria a inibição de respiração foliar pela luz, independentemente da direção. Nesse caso, eCO2 pode mudar razões Rlight:Rdark além das variações esperadas em R<sub>dark</sub>, o que pode levar a maiores variações no balanço de carbono da folha e da planta inteira.

As interações entre os processos entrada (fotossíntese) e saída (fotorrespiração e respiração) de CO<sub>2</sub> na folha são complexas e dependentes da direção de cada resposta a eCO<sub>2</sub> sob diferentes condições ambientais. Se as taxas de processos fisiológicos variarem

diferentemente em relação a sua sensitividade a  $eCO_2$  (ex.  $A_{net}$  sendo mais sensível do que  $R_{dark}$ ), um novo balanço de carbono pode surgir. Por exemplo, o balanço entre fotossíntese e respiração, que são os dois maiores fluxos de carbono entre atmosfera e biosfera, é crucial para compreender o quanto de carbono fixado está realmente disponível para crescimento (Crous et al. 2012). De fato, a maioria dos estudos apontam para maior crescimento em eCO<sub>2</sub>, medido como maior produção de biomassa, incremento em altura e diâmetro e maiores copas (maior área foliar), graças ao carbono extra proveniente de maiores taxas de  $A_{net}$  (Norby et al. 1995, Ainsworth and Long 2005, Norby and Zak 2011).

Condições ambientais, como disponibilidade de nutrientes no solo, podem exercer papel fundamental na modificação de respostas fisiológicas e de crescimento a eCO<sub>2</sub> (Cernusak et al. 2013). Assim como fotossíntese e crescimento aumentam em eCO<sub>2</sub>, a demanda pelos nutrientes necessários para sustentar esses processos também aumenta, o que eventualmente pode levar à depleção de nutrientes a longo prazo (Leakey et al. 2012). Como o crescimento é normalmente controlado pelo recurso limitante (e não pela quantidade total de recursos disponíveis), as respostas a eCO<sub>2</sub> podem ser modificadas se a disponibilidade natural de nutrientes não acompanhar as maiores demandas causadas por eCO<sub>2</sub> (Norby et al. 2010, Ellsworth et al. 2017). Em ambientes terrestres, nitrogênio (N) e fósforo (P) são os elementos que mais limitam a produtividade primária e crescimento vegetal (Lambers et al. 2008, Vitousek et al. 2010). Nos ambientes temperados, onde N é normalmente escasso, graças à menor fixação biológica, a menor quantidade de N restringiu respostas positivas de eCO<sub>2</sub> ao longo do tempo (Oren et al. 2001, Reich et al. 2006, Norby et al. 2010). Já florestas tropicais, onde os solos são geologicamente antigos e já bastante intemperizados, costumam apresentar menores quantidades de P (Lambers et al. 2008). Mesmo com menos evidências experimentais, já existe um consenso de que menor disponibilidade de P também pode restringir respostas a eCO<sub>2</sub> (Ellsworth et al. 2017, Jiang et al. 2020).

Fósforo é um macronutriente essencial para o metabolismo e crescimento vegetal, sendo componente de ácidos nucleicos (ex. DNA), moléculas energéticas (ex. ATP), fosfatos de açúcar (ex. RuBP) e fosfolipídeos (Crous et al. 2017). Assim, o fornecimento de P pode afetar tanto processos metabólicos (fotossíntese, (foto)respiração e interações entre eles), como alocação de carbono na planta inteira (Rao and Terry 1995, Plaxton and Podestá 2006, Pandey et al. 2015). A baixa disponibilidade de P no solo pode levar a menores taxas de regeneração de RuBP e consequentemente menores taxas fotossintéticas e fotorrespiratórias (Rao and Terry

1995, Ellsworth et al. 2015). A limitação por P pode levar ainda a menores taxas respiratórias através de baixos níveis de ATP intracelulares, dado que a razão ATP:ADP regula a fosforilação de enzimas do ciclo TCA assim como a atividade enzimática e passagem de elétrons pela cadeia de transporte de elétrons na mitocôndria (Bykova et al. 2003, Plaxton and Podestá 2006). Além disso, a baixa disponibilidade de P pode influenciar o crescimento tanto pela redução direta da fotossíntese (limitação pela fonte) quanto pelo acúmulo de fotossintatos nas folhas que não podem ser utilizados para crescimento, o que levaria a *down-regulation* da fotossíntese (limitação pelo dreno, Paul and Foyer 2001).

As florestas tropicais possuem grande importância na regulação do clima, na produtividade primária líquida (PPL) e no estoque de carbono global, estocando cerca de metade da biomassa vegetal, apesar de cobrir apenas 7% da superfície terrestre (Bonan 2008, Pan et al. 2011). A maior floresta tropical contínua do mundo encontra-se na bacia amazônica e é responsável por 14% do CO<sub>2</sub> fixado pela fotossíntese terrestre, evidenciando sua relevância global (Zhao and Running 2010). Assim como em outras florestas tropicais (Santiago et al. 2012), estima-se que a produtividade da Amazônia seja limitada pela disponibilidade de P no solo, onde P é o fator que melhor explica a variação de produtividade de madeira na bacia (Quesada et al. 2012). Estudos recentes ressaltaram incertezas relacionadas à falta de conhecimento sobre como espécies da região responderiam a eCO<sub>2</sub> graças à disponibilidade de P no solo (Leakey et al. 2009, Cernusak et al. 2013, Hofhansl et al. 2016) e projeções de modelos estimam reduções severas na PPL e acúmulo de biomassa na vegetação quando a limitação por nutrientes é levada em consideração (Fleischer et al. 2019). Tais modelos assumem que espécies de florestas tropicais podem responder mais fortemente a eCO<sub>2</sub> do que espécies de florestas temperadas, devido a sensitividade de processos eco-fisiológicos à maior temperatura dos trópicos (Hofhansl et al. 2016). Entretanto, a disponibilidade de P pode influenciar de diversas formas as respostas a eCO<sub>2</sub>, em função das habilidades das espécies em lidar com as limitações nutricionais a que estão submetidas (Thompson et al. 2019). Ellsworth et al. (2017) não observaram diferença de produtividade em florestas de Eucalyptus submetidas a eCO<sub>2</sub>, atribuindo a falta de resposta à baixa disponibilidade de P na região. Ainda, Zalamea et al. (2016) observaram que espécies que ocorrem em solos com baixa disponibilidade natural de P não responderam à sua adição, indicando que as afinidades espécie-específicas por condições ambientais podem ser mais importantes do que previamente presumido e impactar também o comportamento de respostas a eCO<sub>2</sub>.

Neste trabalho, investigamos os efeitos de eCO<sub>2</sub> e disponibilidade de P no metabolismo primário de carbono e desenvolvimento acima do solo de plântulas *Inga edulis* Mart., uma espécie da família leguminosa, sob crescimento experimental em câmaras de topo aberto instaladas no sub-bosque de uma floresta primária na Amazônia central. Nós abordamos as seguintes perguntas: (1) Os processos que constituem o metabolismo primário de carbono na planta - como assimilação líquida de CO<sub>2</sub> sob luz saturante (A<sub>sat</sub>), respiração foliar (R<sub>light</sub> e R<sub>dark</sub>) e fotorrespiração (P<sub>R</sub>), respondem a eCO<sub>2</sub>? (2) A disponibilidade de P modifica essas respostas a eCO<sub>2</sub>? (3) O grau de inibição de respiração pela luz é afetado por eCO<sub>2</sub> e disponibilidade de P? Como parte dessa análise, investigamos o papel da P<sub>R</sub> na determinação e predição de taxas de R<sub>light</sub> e da razão R<sub>light</sub>:R<sub>dark</sub> e (4) A resposta de desenvolvimento acima do solo é afetada pela disponibilidade de P?

# **OBJETIVOS**

# **Objetivo geral**

Determinar a influência do aumento da concentração de CO<sub>2</sub> atmosférico e disponibilidade de P no metabolismo primário de carbono e na alometria de plântulas de *Inga edulis* Mart. em condições de campo.

# **Objetivos específicos**

- Avaliar a resposta de parâmetros fisiológicos ligados ao metabolismo primário de carbono (Assimilação líquida de CO<sub>2</sub>, Fotorrespiração, Respiração foliar no claro e Respiração foliar no escuro) de plântulas de *I. edulis* Mart. ao aumento de CO<sub>2</sub> atmosférico e sua sensitividade à disponibilidade de P.
- 2. Avaliar a resposta de inibição de respiração pela luz de plântulas de *I. edulis* Mart. ao aumento de CO<sub>2</sub> atmosférico e sua sensitividade à disponibilidade de P.
- Investigar o papel da fotorrespiração na determinação e predição de taxas de Respiração foliar no claro e da razão Respiração foliar no claro:Respiração foliar no escuro em plântulas de *I. edulis* Mart.
- 4. Avaliar resposta de desenvolvimento acima do solo de plântulas de *I. edulis* Mart. ao aumento de CO<sub>2</sub> atmosférico e sua sensitividade à disponibilidade de P.

# **CAPÍTULO ÚNICO**

# Phosphorus constrains allometric but not physiological responses in seedlings of *Inga edulis* Mart. growing under elevated CO<sub>2</sub>

# Introduction

The atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration  $[CO_2]$  has risen since the beginning of the 18<sup>th</sup> century, from 280 to current 410 parts per million (ppm) (Hönisch et al. 2009, Pagani et al. 2009), due to increased anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases through the burning of fossil fuels and change in land usage (IPCC 2014). Likewise,  $[CO_2]$  is still expected to increase even more by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, even in the most conservative projected scenario (IPCC, 2014). However, in most of its recent evolutionary history, Earth's vegetation has been exposed to lower  $[CO_2]$  (Lüthi et al. 2008), which brings uncertainties about how plants will respond to this change in the future (Leakey and Lau 2012). Considering that  $CO_2$  is the primary substrate for photosynthesis, which is the main entry of carbon in the biosphere, elevated  $[CO_2]$  (eCO<sub>2</sub>) may have a direct impact on metabolism, carbon economy and growth in plants around the world.

Forests are important components of the carbon (C) cycle and can help lessen negative effects of eCO<sub>2</sub>, such as global warming and climate change, working as terrestrial sinks of C (Bonan 2008, Pan et al. 2011). For instance, plant biomass is estimated to store 450-650 gigatons (Gt) of C worldwide (Friedlingstein et al. 2020). At first, as photosynthesis is CO<sub>2</sub>-limited, it usually enhances with eCO<sub>2</sub> ("CO<sub>2</sub> fertilization"), also resulting enhanced growth, reported as greater biomass production, increment in height and diameter and larger canopies (i.e. increased leaf area) (Norby et al. 1995, Drake et al. 1997, Ainsworth and Long 2005, Norby and Zak 2011). However, environmental conditions, such as climate or nutrient availability, may play a fundamental role in modifying physiological and growth eCO<sub>2</sub>-induced responses (Norby et al. 2005). As photosynthesis and growth increases, so does the demand for nutrients, which can eventually lead to nutrient depletion in the long-term (Leakey et al. 2012). Considering that growth is controlled by the limiting resource ("Law of the Minimum"), responses to eCO<sub>2</sub> may become restrained, or even nonexistent, if nutrients' natural availabilities do not meet eCO<sub>2</sub>-enhanced demands (Norby et al. 2010, Ellsworth et al. 2017).

In terrestrial environments, nitrogen (N) and phosphorous (P) are the nutrients that most limit productivity and growth in forests (Walker and Syers 1976, Lambers et al. 2008, Vitousek et al. 2010). In temperate regions, where biological activities are adversely affected by the low seasonal temperatures, decreasing N fixation (Vitousek and Howarth 1991), low-N supply can constrain positive eCO<sub>2</sub> effects on growth over time (i.e. Oren et al. 2001, Reich et al. 2006, Norby et al. 2010). Alternatively, tropical regions usually have high availability of N, but are P-limited, due to the strongly weathered soils, rock-derived nature of P pools and soil P occlusion, which turns it unavailable for plant use (Lambers et al. 2008). Although with less experimental evidence, there is a growing consensus that low-P availability can constrain plant responses to eCO<sub>2</sub> as well (Ellsworth et al. 2017, Jiang et al. 2019).

Tropical forests account for 33% of terrestrial net primary productivity (NPP) and store one fourth of the C in terrestrial biosphere, despite covering only 7% of land's surface (Bonan 2008, Phillips et al. 2009), which indicates their importance to the C cycle. The largest continuous tropical forest is comprised within the Amazon basin, accounting for 14% of the  $CO_2$  fixed by terrestrial photosynthesis (Zhao and Running 2010). As in other tropical forests, the Amazon productivity is thought to be constrained by P availability (Santiago et al. 2012, Santiago 2015). For instance, a work of Quesada et al. (2012) observed that soil P status was the factor that better explained variation in growth and wood productivity across basin where soil P availability varies in a basin-wide gradient, with higher amounts of P found in the east and lower in the west (Quesada et al. 2011). Recent studies have brought to light uncertainties related to the lack of knowledge on how species in the region would respond to eCO<sub>2</sub> due to soil P availability (Leakey et al. 2009, Cernusak et al. 2013, Hofhansl et al. 2016) and model projections also estimated severe reductions in NPP and biomass accumulation in a Central Amazon forest when nutrient limitation was taken into account (Fleischer et al. 2019).

The effects of eCO<sub>2</sub> in plant metabolism and growth have been largely studied for the last four decades (Drake et al. 1997, Ainsworth and Rogers 2007, Norby and Zak 2011, Ainsworth and Long 2021). Net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation ( $A_{net}$ ) is stimulated by eCO<sub>2</sub> by increasing carbon availability to Rubisco and thus enhancing carboxylation of ribulose-1,5-biphosphate (RuBP), whilst simultaneously suppressing photorespiration ( $P_R$ ) (Farquhar et al. 1980, Long 1991, Drake et al. 1997). However, the degree to which enhanced  $A_{net}$  is sustained and translated into productivity and growth is dependent upon a complex range of oxidative processes in primary carbon metabolism at the leaf-level. Such processes, of which the most

dominant are  $P_R$  and leaf mitochondrial respiration (R), often result in the release of photosynthetically fixed CO<sub>2</sub> and the balance between them can determine how much carbon will actually be available for growth (Productivity 1989, Kromer 1995, Hurry et al. 1996, O'Leary et al. 2019).

Mitochondrial respiration is responsible for producing energy molecules, reducing power and carbon skeletons that will be used in cellular maintenance and biosynthesis (Amthor 1991). According to Loveys et al. (2002), between 30-80% of all CO<sub>2</sub> fixed by photosynthesis at the individual level is then respired back to the atmosphere on a daily basis. Even though respiration does not only occur in photosynthetic organs, approximately half of the whole-plant respiration occurs in leaves (Ayub et al. 2014). Leaf respiration takes place both in the light (R<sub>light</sub>), concurrently with photosynthesis and photorespiration, and in the darkness (R<sub>dark</sub>). Yet, their relative contributions to total R are not the same, since R is inhibited by light, resulting in respiratory rates being lower in the light than in the darkness (Brooks and Farquhar 1985, Kromer 1995, Tcherkez et al. 2008). The responses of both types of R to eCO<sub>2</sub> are highly variable (Way et al. 2015, Xu et al. 2015, Dusenge et al. 2019) and are often associated to the supply of substrate (i.e. photosynthates) and the plants' demand for respiratory products (Azcón-Bieto and Osmond 1983, Amthor 1991, Wullschleger et al. 1994).

Photorespiration ( $P_R$ ) is a process that involves an intricate set of reactions. It begins with the oxygenation of RuBP in the chloroplast, instead of its carboxylation by Rubisco (Hurry et al. 2005). This oxygenation reaction accounts for 15-35% of net photosynthetic rates (Sharkey 1988) and is the prevailing decarboxylation flux in C3 species (Hurry et al. 2005). In addition,  $P_R$  interacts directly with  $R_{light}$ , sharing intermediates with the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA cycle) in the mitochondrion (Hurry et al. 2005), which indicates a link between  $P_R$  and light inhibition of R (Wang et al. 2001, Hurry et al. 2005). The relationship between  $P_R$  and R has been shown in various studies (Tcherkez et al. 2008, Ayub et al. 2011, Crous et al. 2012), although its direction is still uncertain (Crous et al. 2017). As  $P_R$  is likely to be suppressed by eCO<sub>2</sub>, such change will also impact light inhibition of R, irrespectively of the direction. In that case, eCO<sub>2</sub> may change  $R_{light}$ :  $R_{dark}$  ratios beyond eCO<sub>2</sub>-caused variations of R, which could lead to larger changes in leaf carbon balance as well as in whole-plant.

The interplays between assimilation (photosynthesis) and loss (photorespiration and respiration) of  $CO_2$  at the leaf level are highly complex and depend on how each related process responds to eCO<sub>2</sub> according to different environmental conditions (Norby and Zak 2011). As

most of the studies have been focusing on temperate regions, knowledge of plant responses to  $eCO_2$  is biased in regards of how they interact with low soil nutrient availability (i.e. soil N supply; Leakey et al. 2012). Given the differences of nutrient cycling, climate regimes and biological complexity between temperate and tropical regions, the direction and sensitivity of plant physiological and growth responses to  $eCO_2$  when soil P availability is low, such as in the Amazon rainforest, may differ from current knowledge (Cernusak et al. 2013, Hofhansl et al. 2016, Fleischer et al. 2019). Hence, it is essential to understand if and how the processes involved in plant primary carbon metabolism and growth will respond to  $eCO_2$  in such context.

Here we investigated the effects of  $eCO_2$  and P availability on leaf primary carbon metabolism and aboveground development of *Inga edulis* Mart. seedlings, a leguminous tree from the Amazon region, growing in CO<sub>2</sub> enrichment chambers in the understory of a central Amazon forest. Therefore, we tested the following hypotheses: (1) Growth under  $eCO_2$  will affect the processes constituting plant primary carbon metabolism in opposite directions, as light-saturated net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation (A<sub>sat</sub>) and leaf respirations (R<sub>light</sub> and R<sub>dark</sub>) will increase, with R<sub>light</sub> lower than R<sub>dark</sub>, and P<sub>R</sub> will decrease; (2) High soil P availability will intensify the physiological responses to eCO<sub>2</sub>, except from P<sub>R</sub> which is expected to decrease irrespective of P supply; (3) eCO<sub>2</sub> and P-induced changes in the underlying rates of R<sub>dark</sub> and P<sub>R</sub> will affect the degree of light inhibition of respiration, with P<sub>R</sub> rates varying in the same direction of R<sub>light</sub> (4) High-P and eCO<sub>2</sub> will induce aboveground responses separately, with seedlings exposed to both resources addition treatments being the most developed.

## **Material and Methods**

#### Study site

We conducted this study in the AmazonFACE (Free-Air CO<sub>2</sub> Enrichment - https://amazonface.inpa.gov.br) experimental site, located at Reserva Experimental de Silvicultura Tropical (EEST/ ZF- 2; 2°36'32.67S 60°12'33.48W). The site is managed by Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia (INPA) and is situated approximately 70km north of Manaus (Amazonas, Brazil) (Lapola and Norby 2014).

The experimental site is established in a plateau of primary "terra-firme" (non-flooded) forest in Central Amazon, with mean annual temperature of 26°C and altitude of 130 m (Ferreira et al. n.d., Chambers et al. 2000, Araújo et al. 2002, Tanaka et al. 2014). Rainfall is seasonally

distributed with a marked dry season mid-year between July and October (average rainfall of 556.4 mm) and a wet season between November and May (average rainfall of 1851.2 mm), with an average annual rainfall of 2407.6 mm (Tanaka et al. 2014). Average canopy height at the site reaches 30 m, with emergent trees reaching as far as 45 m (Vieira et al. 2004). The main plant families are Lecythidaceae, Sapotaceae, Arecaceae, Euphorbiaceae, Burseraceae, and Chrysobalanaceae (Carneiro et al. 2005). The site has a well-drained acidic and clay soil, characterized as Ferralsol (Oxisol), with low fertility due to its reduced phosphorus (P) and other rock derived elements concentration. These soil characteristics are found in approximately 32% of the forests in the Amazon basin (60% of Brazilian Amazon) and represents the lower end of the gradient of soil fertility in the Amazon basin (Quesada *et al.* 2010, 2011).

Eight Open Top Chambers (OTCs), with 2.5 m diameter x 3 m height each, were installed in the study site as part of Phase 1 of the AmazonFACE experiment (Lapola 2017). The OTCs are designed to increase the [CO<sub>2</sub>] inside them and are commonly used to investigate the effects of  $eCO_2$  in small-stature vegetation (Leadley and Drake 1993). To assess the effect of the CO<sub>2</sub> elevation in the understory, the chambers were set up in pairs (four control and four treatment), with one being the reference for natural ambient [CO<sub>2</sub>] (without any addition of  $CO_2$ ; ambient  $[CO_2]$  - a $CO_2$ ), whereas in the other,  $[CO_2]$  was held, on average, 200ppm above its aCO<sub>2</sub> pair (elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] - eCO<sub>2</sub>). Two shapes of OTC structures were used, with different top (frustum) openings. One pair of steel-polypropylene OTCs were octagonal, with narrower frustum openings and three pairs of aluminum-polycarbonate OTCs were dodecagonal, with wider frustum openings (Figure S1A). Each pair of OTC was connected to a CO<sub>2</sub> sensor (Li-Cor 840A, Li-Cor Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA), installed in a nearby central system, that measured the  $[CO_2]$  inside the chambers every minute and controlled the  $CO_2$  injection into the  $eCO_2$ ones. Data of [CO<sub>2</sub>] was recorded in Campbell Scientific CR1000 dataloggers. Whenever the difference between the pair of OTCs fell below 200 ppm, CO<sub>2</sub> was injected inside the eCO<sub>2</sub> chambers through a gas line, connected to a central cylinder (filled with high-pressurized gaseous CO<sub>2</sub>) system, and spread by fans installed close to the CO<sub>2</sub> injection hose (at least twice every minute). The CO<sub>2</sub> injectors were switched on at 6 am and off at 6 pm. In the aCO<sub>2</sub> chambers,  $[CO_2]$  was around 500 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, while in the eCO<sub>2</sub> ones,  $[CO_2]$  was held around 700  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>.

## Experimental design

For this experiment, we chose the leguminous tree species *Inga edulis* Mart. (subfamily Mimosoideae). It is native to the American continent and presents a wide natural distribution that covers different regions of the Amazon rainforest, including the study site. Seeds were collected in November 2019 in an experimental station close to the study site from three different parent trees and equally distributed among  $CO_2$  and P treatments. The seeds germinated in cylindrical shaped pots filled with soil (B horizon) collected locally at the experimental site (Figure S1B). To remove any fine roots previously existent, the soil was sifted twice with meshes of different sizes (10 x 10 mm and 2 x 2 mm). Half of the seedlings grew in pots with natural (P) availability (hereafter low-P treatment) and the other half grew in pots fertilized with 53.28 g of solid triple superphosphate (hereafter high-P treatment). To calculate the amount of triple superphosphate added to the soil, we used the standard conversion equation:

Triple superphosphate (g) = 
$$\frac{([P] * Volume (pot) * Soil density)}{1000} / Conversion factor}$$

where [P] is P concentration in ppm, volume (pot) is equal to 15.5 L, soil density is 1 gm/cm<sup>3</sup> and conversion factor = 0.192. In addition to the calculated amount, it was added 10% more triple superphosphate (48.44 g + 4.84 g), considering the natural P occlusion in the soil. In low-P pots, average value of resin extractable P (an indicator of P available to plants) was 13 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> whereas in high-P pots it was 240 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>.

The experiment was composed of 48 pots, equally distributed among OTCs (six pots per OTC; three with low-P and three with high-P supply), resulting in 12 replicates for each combination of CO<sub>2</sub> and P treatments (Ambient CO<sub>2</sub>/Low P (control), Ambient CO<sub>2</sub>/High P, Elevated CO<sub>2</sub>/Low P and Elevated CO<sub>2</sub>/High P). *I. edulis* seeds germinated in the pots inside the OTCs on early November 2019 and grew for 9 months. During the experiment, two seedlings died (one in Ambient CO<sub>2</sub>/Low P and one in Ambient CO<sub>2</sub>/High P treatments), resulting in 46 seedlings for analysis.

#### Environmental characterization of OTCs

Light environment was assessed from hemispherical photographs using a Canon Rebel EOS T3 camera with Sigma fish-eye lens (8 mm), and further analyzed using Gap Light Analyzer software (https://www.caryinstitute.org/science/our-scientists/dr-charles-d-canham/gap-light-

analyzer-gla). For each OTC, the total solar radiation transmitted (TSRT; mol m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated as a function of solar constant (1367 W m<sup>-2</sup>), geographical coordinates (latitude/longitude) (Table 1), and canopy openness (percentage of open sky seen from beneath the forest canopy), using the effective leaf area index integrated over the zenith angles 0 to 60° (LAI 4 Ring) as described in the software manual.

Since the OTCs are completely open at the top, pots were irrigated by natural rainfall. Superficial soil moisture (5 cm depth) was measured as soil volumetric water content (VWC; % volume), using a portable soil moisture sensor kit (SM 150T, Delta-T Devices, Cambridge UK), which yields a 3% accuracy on soil moisture measurements and minimal soil disturbance. Three measurements were made in each pot, always close to the roots during the dry season, in September 2020 (Table 1).

## Gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements

Leaf-level gas exchange (GE) measurements of light-saturated CO<sub>2</sub> net assimilation (Asat), stomatal conductance to water vapor (gsw), leaf respiration in the darkness (Rdark), leaf respiration in the light ( $R_{light}$ ) and photorespiration ( $P_R$ ) were carried out on 32 seedlings (two per treatment in each OTC). These measurements were taken using an open gas exchange system (Li-Cor 6800; Li-Cor Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA) with a 6 cm<sup>2</sup> integrated fluorescence chamber head (Li-Cor 6800 Leaf Chamber Fluorometer). Measurements of Asat, gsw and Rdark were taken as point measurements whereas R<sub>light</sub> and P<sub>R</sub> were estimated using data from light curves. These measurements were performed under leaf temperature (T<sub>leaf</sub>) of 30°C, leaf-to-air vapor pressure deficit (VPD) of 0-0.1 Pa, fan speed of 10000 rpm, relative humidity (RH) inside the leaf chamber between 65 and 70% and red:blue light ratio of 9:1. Air flow rate was set at 700  $\mu$ molm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> for A<sub>sat</sub> and 300  $\mu$ molm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> for R<sub>dark</sub>, R<sub>light</sub> and P<sub>R</sub> (for an explanation on how reduced air flow rate was chosen, see Notes S2). Leaf chamber oxygen concentration [O<sub>2</sub>] was set at ambient  $O_2(21\%)$ , unless stated otherwise. For the measurements taken in control OTCs  $(aCO_2)$ , the  $[CO_2]$  inside the leaf chamber  $(C_a)$  was set at 500 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup>, whilst for treatment OTCs (eCO<sub>2</sub>), it was set as 700  $\mu$ mol mol<sup>-1</sup>. Two sets of light response curves were performed using the decreasing photosynthetically photon flux density (PPFD) sequence of 80, 70, 60, 50, 40, 35, 30, 25, 20, 15, 10 and 5  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. At each step, readings were recorded when the stability parameters ( $\Delta CO_2$ ,  $\Delta H_2O$ , A,  $g_{sw}$  and F) reached steady-state values (3-5min). In addition, steady-state fluorescence (Fs) and light-adapted maximal fluorescence (Fm') were taken by applying an instantaneous saturating light pulse (8000  $\mu$ mol photon m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> for 0.5 seconds). Values of photosystem II (PSII) electron transport efficiency ( $\Phi_{PSII}$ ) were then calculated as  $\Delta F/Fm' = (Fm'-Fs)/Fm'$  (Genty et al. 1989) for both sets of light response curves. In the first set, [O<sub>2</sub>] was set as ambient O<sub>2</sub> (21%) and in the second set, [O<sub>2</sub>] was set as low O<sub>2</sub> (0.5%) to suppress P<sub>R</sub>. In the latter set, a gas cylinder with a mixture of 99.5% N<sub>2</sub> and 0.5% O<sub>2</sub> was used to ensure non-photorespiratory conditions. The measurements were made on fully expanded leaves with, approximately, the same age (290-310 days old), thus excluding any bias in this regard. Before starting all GE and chlorophyll fluorescence (CF) measurements, leaves were acclimated for at least 30min to ensure the stability of CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation (A), stomatal conductance ( $g_{sw}$ ) and fluorescence (F) values.

Measurements of A<sub>sat</sub> and g<sub>sw</sub> were made simultaneously at light saturation point (LSP; PPFD= 250  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) in daylight, between 8 a.m. and 4 p.m. (for a thorough explanation on how LSP was estimated, see Notes S1). R<sub>dark</sub> values were measured at the end of the day between 6 and 8 p.m., when leaves were in natural darkness conditions (PPFD = 0  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>) for at least one hour, thus avoiding light enhanced dark respiration fluxes (LEDR; i.e. respiration of recently fixed photoassimilates) (Atkin et al. 1998, 2006) and post-illumination bursts with the usage of green lanterns (Atkin et al. 1998). Readings of A<sub>sat</sub> and R<sub>dark</sub> were recorded at a 10 second-interval for 2-3 min (A<sub>sat</sub>) and 5 min (R<sub>dark</sub>) after the acclimation period.

R<sub>light</sub> was estimated by the Yin method (Yin et al. 2009, 2011) using the light curves under ambient O<sub>2</sub>. R<sub>light</sub> was estimated as the negative intercept of the linear regression of A against (PPFD \*  $\Phi_{PSII}/4$ ) (Yin et al. 2009, 2011). We chose this method instead of the Kok method, because it accounts for variation in  $\Phi_{PSII}$  as PPFD changes. To estimate R<sub>light</sub>, we used only the GE and CF measurements made between 5-40 µmol PPFD m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> due to a non-linear relationship above 40 µmol PPFD m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> and a non-clear Kok effect in our data. The Kok effect refers to a break (an abrupt change) in the slope of the A<sub>net</sub>-PPDF relationship near the light compensation point (LCP; Ayub et al. 2011, Tcherkez and Atkin 2021). Our calculations of LCPs, as the x-intercept in the light curves, yielded results that ranged from 0 to 4.5 µmol PPFD m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>. This could indicate that break points were below LCPs, enabling us to use the lower end of the light curves in R<sub>light</sub> estimates.

 $P_R$  rates were estimated using data from the light curves under low  $O_2$  and determined as 0.5 \* Vo (Busch 2013), where Vo (Rubisco oxygenation rate) was calculated as (Bellasio et al. 2016):

$$V_{o} = \frac{J}{6} - \frac{2 \left(Asat + Rlight\right)}{3}$$

and the electron transport rate (J) was calibrated as  $J=s * PPFD * \Phi_{PSII}$  (Yin *et al.* 2009), with the lumped parameter *s* being the slope of the linear regression of A against (PPFD \*  $\Phi_{PSII}/4$ ) of the low O<sub>2</sub> light curves (Yin et al. 2009).

#### Allometric measurements

Non-destructive measurements of allometric data were made in all 46 seedlings. Plant height (H; cm) was measured as the shortest distance between the root collar and the apical bud. The circumference (C) of the stem was measured using a string wire positioned around the seedlings' stem, close to the root collar. The length of the string wire was then measured using a caliper and plant diameter (D; cm) was calculated with the equation  $D=C/\pi$ . Crown height (CH; cm) was measured as the shortest distance between the oldest lateral bud and the apical bud. Crown diameter (CD; cm) was measured as the longest distance between two diametrically opposite leaves. All the leaves of each seedling were counted and photographed, using a known scale. Mean leaf area (MLA; cm<sup>2</sup>) and total leaf area (TLA; cm<sup>2</sup>) for each seedling were calculated using the software ImageJ (https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/). As recommended by (Pérez-Harguindeguy et al. 2016) for compound leaves, leaf area was measured as the sum of each leaflet blade and their rachises areas. Mean leaf thickness (L<sub>th</sub>, mm) was measured using a digital micrometer (Mitutoyo QuantuMike IP65), in three different regions of each leaf, always in the intermediate portion of the leaf blade, from the margin into the midrib, avoiding large secondary veins whenever possible.

Some seedlings exhibited branching at the base of the stem (n=12). All allometric variables were collected only from the main branch, except for number of leaves and total leaf area. All data, including environmental, GE, CF and allometric measurements, were collected between September and October 2020 (dry season).

#### Data analyses

#### Gas exchange data

Point measurements of  $A_{sat}$  and  $R_{dark}$  were screened for outliers (points 1.5 times greater than the interquantile range) and then averaged. The ratio R:A was calculated using data of  $A_{sat}$  and  $R_{dark}$ .

#### Aboveground plant size and relative growth rate

To analyze interrelationships and recognize patterns between allometric data related to carbon allocation, we performed a principal component analysis (PCA) using the following variables: H, D, CH, CD, TLA and Lth. The variables were scaled before analyses and the coordinates (scores) of the first axis (PC1) used as an index for aboveground development and size, in which their ordination was positively related to aboveground development. PCA was performed using the packages 'FactoMineR' (Husson et al. 2020) and 'factoextra' (Kassambara and Mundt 2020).

Relative growth rate (RGR) based on the height of the seedlings was calculated using the height measured at the end of the field campaign (October 2020) divided by the number of days of the experiment until allometric data collection (336 days). We used height growth instead of diameter growth because shaded environments (understory) are more likely to drive plant carbon investment in height or leaf area in order to enhance light capture (Poorter et al. 2018). Besides environment-driven strategies, ontogenetically, seedlings are more likely to allocate carbon in primary (height) over secondary (diameter) growth.

#### Statistical analyses

To analyze the effects of treatments on the response variables, we used generalized mixed effects models (GLMMs) using the R package 'glmmTMB' (Magnusson et al. 2020).We considered CO<sub>2</sub> (aCO<sub>2</sub> and eCO<sub>2</sub>) and P (Low P and High P) treatments and their interactions as main fixed effects, parent tree and OTC as random effects. To account for variability between and within OTCs, due to OTC surrounding environment (i.e. different canopy openness), structure (i.e. frustum opening) or pot location inside the OTC, we used average soil moisture (VWC) and average total solar radiation (mol m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) as covariates in the models. Whenever a covariate was not significant (p > 0.05), we would remove it and refit the model. The probability distributions and link functions used in each model are indicated in Table 3.

We used the 'anova' function in R to compare the variance of the full models, including all of the fixed and random effects, and their nested variations until achieving the best fitted model (the model that better explained most of the variation of the response variables using less predictors). After selecting the best models, we tested them against their null model to ensure ours explained more than the model without predictors. Considering that mixed models have more than one source of variance (random effects and residuals), we calculated marginal and conditional R<sup>2</sup> (Nakagawa and Schielzeth 2013), using the R package "MuMIn" (Bartón 2020). We chose the trigamma-estimate whenever possible, and delta-estimate when it was the only estimate available, as suggested by Bartón (2020). Marginal R<sup>2</sup> (hereafter R<sup>2</sup><sub>fixed</sub>) is the coefficient of determination calculated considering only the variation explained by the fixed effects and conditional R<sup>2</sup> (hereafter R<sup>2</sup><sub>model</sub>) is the coefficient calculated considering both fixed and random effects. R<sup>2</sup> from random effects only (hereafter R<sup>2</sup><sub>random</sub>) was calculated as R<sup>2</sup><sub>model</sub> – R<sup>2</sup><sub>fixed</sub>.

To evaluate pairwise relationships between physiological variables, we used linear regression analyses and Spearman's correlation, where  $\rho$  is a rank-based correlation coefficient for non-parametric data and varies from -1 to 1. All statistical analyses were performed in the R statistical environment (R Core 2020).

#### Results

#### Treatment effect on physiological variables

Light-saturated net photosynthetic CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation (A<sub>sat</sub>) was significantly higher in seedlings exposed to eCO<sub>2</sub> regardless of P treatment (*p-value*<sub>CO2</sub>= 0.05 and *p-value*<sub>P</sub> = 0.926; Figure 1A, Table 3), followed by a slight, but not significant, decrease in stomatal conductance ( $g_{sw}$ ) at A<sub>sat</sub> under eCO<sub>2</sub> (*p-value*<sub>CO2</sub>= 0.074, Table 3). Leaf respiration, both in the darkness (R<sub>dark</sub>) and in the light (R<sub>light</sub>), was significantly affected by eCO<sub>2</sub> treatment (Figure1B and C, Table 3), but in opposite directions, where R<sub>dark</sub> decreased (*p-value*<sub>CO2</sub>= 0.024) and R<sub>light</sub> increased under eCO<sub>2</sub> (*p-value*<sub>CO2</sub>= 0.045). The seedlings exposed to eCO<sub>2</sub> and high-P treatment showed the highest reduction in R<sub>dark</sub> (52.33%). Some of the seedlings exposed to eCO<sub>2</sub> showed slightly positive R<sub>dark</sub> values (i.e. - 0.056 ± 0.063). In addition, we did not observe the expected suppression of P<sub>R</sub> under eCO<sub>2</sub> (*p-value*<sub>CO2</sub>= 0.492) nor any change due to P addition (*p-value*<sub>P</sub>= 0.933; Figure 1D, Table 3). The R<sub>dark</sub>:A<sub>sat</sub> ratio decreased among CO<sub>2</sub> and P treatments (*p-value*<sub>CO2</sub>= 0.011 and *p-value*<sub>P</sub> = 0.019; Table 3), but without an interaction between treatments (*p-value*<sub>interaction</sub> = 0.1). Variations in this ratio were strongly correlated to variations in R<sub>dark</sub> ( $\rho = 0.95 \ p-value$ < 0.002), rather than in A<sub>sat</sub> ( $\rho = -0.07, \ p-value = 0.7$ ).

We did not observe a significant relationship between  $R_{\text{light}}$  and  $R_{\text{dark}}$  ( $R^2 = 0.01$ , *p*-value = 0.24) and, under eCO<sub>2</sub>,  $R_{\text{light}}$  was greater than  $R_{\text{dark}}$  (Figure 2A), resulting in  $R_{\text{light}}$ : $R_{\text{dark}}$  ratios greater than 1 in 37.5% of the seedlings (n = 12). When  $R_{\text{light}}$ : $R_{\text{dark}}$  ratios fell within the expected

range, from 0 to 1 (62.5%, n = 20), we observed a light inhibition of 30%. Spearman's correlation showed that variations in  $R_{\text{light}}$ : $R_{\text{dark}}$  ratio were more related to changes in  $R_{\text{light}}$  ( $\rho = 0.87$ , *p-value* < 0.001) than in  $R_{\text{dark}}$  ( $\rho = -0.20$ , *p-value* = 0.27). The relationship between  $R_{\text{light}}$  and  $P_R$  did not show a predictive link between  $P_R$  and light inhibition of respiration irrespectively of the direction ( $R^2 = -0.031$ , *p-value* = 0.78, Figure 2B). Similarly,  $P_R$  did not influence  $R_{\text{light}}$ : $R_{\text{dark}}$  ratio ( $R^2 = 0.006$ , *p-value* = 0.28, Figure 2C).

#### Treatment effects on allometric variables

To assess the effect of eCO<sub>2</sub> and P addition on allometric variables, we investigated both the responses of separate aboveground components (stem and leaves) and a proxy for total aboveground development, using PCA scores. When analyzing isolated components, such as height (H), crown height (CH), crown diameter (CD), total leaf area (TLA) and relative growth rate (RGR), the variables showed a significant and positive response to P addition, irrespective of exposure to eCO<sub>2</sub> (Figure 3A, C and D; Table 3). Particularly, high-P seedlings showed greater crown development, both in terms of CH and CD and TLA, with CH following the same pattern as H, with taller seedlings also displaying taller crowns. High-P supply also had a significant effect on TLA (*p*-*value*<sub>P</sub>< 0.001; Table 3). Indeed, TLA was the variable that showed the greatest variation among treatments, with mean values ranging from 308.174 ± 151.615 cm<sup>2</sup> (mean ± sd) in control seedlings to 697.605 ± 343.14 cm<sup>2</sup> in seedlings exposed both to eCO<sub>2</sub> and P addition (Table 2, Figure 3C), which represents an increase of 126% in total leaf area. However, the number of leaves did not vary between treatments (*p*-*value*<sub>CO2</sub> = 0.073, *p*-*value*<sub>P</sub> = 0.016; Table 3). In agreement with the results for H, high-P supply also had a significant and positive effect on RGR (*p*-*value*<sub>P</sub> = 0.004; Table 3).

The collective responses of different allometric variables were evaluated altogether with a PCA. The first axis of the PCA (PC1), which holds the greatest variation between variables, explained 52.75% of the variation between coordinated growth of stem and leaves, showing a grouping between treatments. Seedlings exposed to  $aCO_2$  and low-P treatment were grouped on the top and bottom left (Figure S4), while seedlings exposed either to  $eCO_2$  or P addition were grouped on the right, apparently showing two different growth strategies: growing taller or investing more in leaves and stem diameter. The second axis of the PCA (PC2) explained 17.3% of the variation. Combined, the first two axis explained 70% of total variation between variables related to carbon allocation. The variables that most contributed in grouping the

individuals were H and CH, both strongly related to the search for light. As far as the individual's contributions to the variation explanation, the seedlings that showed the most development (highest PCA score) were all in the high-P treatment (Figure S4). In agreement with isolated aboveground organs responses to treatments, seedlings' size was also greater in high-P treatment (*p*-*value*<sub>P</sub> < 0.001; Table 3). Phosphorus addition had a significant and positive effect on aboveground development whilst eCO<sub>2</sub> treatment did not have any effect whatsoever. We also did not observe interactive effects between P availability and the response to CO<sub>2</sub> (Table 3).

## Discussion

We investigated the influence of  $eCO_2$  on the primary carbon metabolism, aboveground growth, and development of *I. edulis* seedlings, with and without P addition. In our study we were able to distinguish a pattern, where  $eCO_2$  affected mostly physiological variables linked to primary carbon metabolism, while P addition affected positively aboveground development and size. Such results are somewhat consistent with other findings in plant responses to  $eCO_2$  and/or P addition in tropical forests that share similar soil nutrient limitations (Winter et al. 2001, Cernusak et al. 2011*b*, Ellsworth et al. 2017, Thompson et al. 2019). Even without an interactive effect of  $eCO_2$  and high P supply, physiological and allometric responses were enhanced (i.e. greater percentage change when compared to control; Table 2), when seedlings were exposed to both treatments. Such tendency, although not statistically significant, suggests that further investigation is needed to better understand the role of P in limiting responses to  $eCO_2$ .

#### Leaf gas exchange responds to eCO<sub>2</sub> but not to P addition

We observed that  $eCO_2$  itself had a significant effect on  $A_{sat}$ , contrary to our hypothesis that P supply would limit this impact on photosynthetic rates. Despite the low-light availability environment, seedlings responded positively to  $eCO_2$ , even after 9-month exposure to  $eCO_2$ , This indicates that  $[CO_2]$  can also limit  $CO_2$  assimilation to some extent even in situations where light availability has a great influence on photosynthetic responses (Springer and Thomas 2007). The absence of P effect on  $A_{sat}$  could be explained by mechanisms usually used to cope with low nutrient availability, as the inorganic phosphate (Pi) recycling during plant metabolic reactions, which allows for carbon fixation to continue even under low-P supply. Examples of such mechanisms include up-regulation of Pi-transporters, differential expression of genes that

encode enzymes responsible for reprioritizing internal Pi among others (Plaxton and Tran 2011).

The reduction in  $P_R$  is the mechanism often used to explain the greater elevation of  $A_{sat}$  under eCO<sub>2</sub> (Farquhar et al. 1980, Long 1991). However, contrary to our expectation, we did not find an effect of neither CO<sub>2</sub> or P treatments on  $P_R$  nor a significant relationship between  $P_R$  and  $A_{sat}$ . The lack of treatment effect can be explained by P recycling in leaf metabolism as pointed before, and the non-linear relationship of Rubisco activity to increases in [CO<sub>2</sub>] (Sharkey et al. 2007). Since we measured  $P_R$  under 500 ppm, the CO<sub>2</sub>:O<sub>2</sub> ratio could have already been high and the increase of another 200 ppm in the leaf cuvette would have little or no effect on it. Thus, we have no evidence to conclude that, in the circumstances of this study, the suppression of  $P_R$  is involved in  $A_{sat}$  increases.

The direct stimulation of photosynthesis associated with decreasing g<sub>sw</sub> under eCO<sub>2</sub> has been widely reported under similar semi controlled-environment conditions (i.e. Norby et al. 1995, Ainsworth and Long 2005) and implies greater photosynthates supply usually followed by greater leaf respiratory metabolism (Ainsworth and Long 2005, Leakey et al. 2009). Differences in leaf R rates under eCO<sub>2</sub> are often considered the results of indirect effects of carbon uptake, as respiration itself seems to be insensitive to CO<sub>2</sub> concentration (Amthor 2000, Gonzàlez-Meler et al. 2001). While the response of Asat and gsw partially confirmed our initial hypothesis, R<sub>dark</sub> decreased mediated by eCO<sub>2</sub>, contrary to our hypothesis that it would increase under eCO<sub>2</sub> and high-P supply. What could explain this opposite response for R<sub>dark</sub>? At first, we assumed that respiratory metabolism would increase, in response to either a higher supply of substrate for respiration (i.e. more photosynthates from increased A<sub>sat</sub>) or enhanced need for respiratory products, such as ATP, reductants (i.e. NADPH), and carbon skeletons (Wullschleger et al. 1994). In fact, the rate at which these compounds are used to meet leaf demands, such as maintenance, transport, and nutrient uptake, could better regulate respiratory metabolism than the greater substrate supply (Amthor 1994). Although our result showed lower R<sub>dark</sub> rates, which are usually associated with reduced rates of photosynthesis and foliar nutrient content, reduced rates of respiration can also be explained by lower constructions and maintenance costs mediated by eCO2-induced leaf composition changes (i.e. protein and nutrient dilution; Wullschleger et al. 1992, 1994, Atkin et al. 2006).

The significant reduction in the  $R_{dark}$ :  $A_{sat}$  ratio, under both CO<sub>2</sub> and P treatments, indicates more carbon use efficiency in leaf metabolism. Moreover, correlation analysis

suggests that  $R_{dark}$ : A<sub>sat</sub> was impacted to a greater extent by changes in  $R_{dark}$  in comparison to A<sub>sat</sub>, suggesting a higher sensitivity of  $R_{dark}$  to eCO<sub>2</sub> and P addition than A<sub>sat</sub>. In this case, respiratory processes would play a more important role in determining leaf carbon balance than assimilatory ones, bringing to light the importance of measurements of CO<sub>2</sub> as a whole in plant metabolism. Indeed, in tropical environments where natural P availability is low, nutrient supply has been suggested to be more important in determining  $R_{dark}$  than A<sub>sat</sub> (Rowland et al. 2016). In addition, accounting for the importance of leaf respiration to whole-plant carbon balance, the reduction in this ratio indicate that *I. edulis* seedlings have more carbon to allocate to vital processes other than those that take place in the leaves, such as whole-plant metabolism and biomass production.

#### Relationships between carbon loss processes at the leaf level

The mechanisms that underline the metabolism of R<sub>light</sub> are still not fully understood (Tcherkez and Atkin 2021), but most studies have found a consistent relationship between the two types of leaf R, with R<sub>light</sub> being lower than R<sub>dark</sub> (i.e. Tcherkez et al. 2008, 2012, 2017). Although respiratory rates in the light tend to vary greatly, as a result of the conditions during measurements, previous studies using isotope labelling, which also accounts for internal refixation of CO<sub>2</sub>, observed a higher frequency that R<sub>light</sub> was lower than R<sub>dark</sub> (i.e. McCashin et al. 1988, Pärnik and Keerberg 1995). In our study, however, we did not find a close relationship between the two types of R rates (Figure S2A and S2B), suggesting that light and dark respiratory metabolisms were loosely linked, which is highly unlikely. In addition, in 37.5% of the seedlings light seems to stimulate leaf respiration (i.e. R<sub>light</sub> > R<sub>dark</sub>). Few studies have found similar results, suggesting an association between Rlight and the amount and type of photosynthates available in the leaf for immediate consumption (Pärnik et al. 2002, Griffin and Turnbull 2013), in which high R<sub>light</sub> rates were associated to the consumption of primary (i.e. triose-phosphate) and stored photosynthates (Pärnik et al. 2002). In the light, both types of photosynthates are used as substrates for respiratory and photorespiratory metabolisms. However, starch consumption seems to be inhibited by light (Atkin et al. 2006), which results in lower R<sub>light</sub>:R<sub>dark</sub> ratios in plants that synthesize more starch than those who synthesize more sucrose. For these plants, the total rate of respiratory decarboxylations in the light (primary + stored photosynthates) can be equal or even higher than R<sub>dark</sub> (Pärnik et al. 2002, Hurry et al. 2005). Even though we cannot test this association, as we did not measure neither primary nor stored photosynthates, this hypothesis merits further investigation. Moreover, Griffin and Turnbull 2013 observed that Rlight:Rdark ratios in wheat leaves were very close to a value that
suggested that R was not suppressed by light but may have been slightly stimulated when measured at leaf temperature ( $T_{leaf}$ ) of 30°C (the same used in this study), which implies that at high  $T_{leaf}$  more respiratory products would be needed to support enhanced  $A_{net}$ . If this was the case for our study, then  $R_{light}$  would have to be strongly associated to  $A_{sat}$ , which we did not observe ( $R^2$ =0.01, p-value= 0.24).

Considering the low R<sub>dark</sub> values (Table 2) and that light inhibition of leaf respiration can vary from 0% to 80% according to environmental conditions (Atkin et al. 2000, Hurry et al. 2005), actual Rlight values could be lower than the detection sensibility of the IRGA used in this study and our measurements of Rlight may not have reflected the real values of Rlight. Another explanation could be that there is not, in fact, light inhibition of R in these seedlings, suggesting that the low light environment in which the *I. edulis* seedlings grew would play an important role in explaining our findings. Considering that in the understory, sunflecks (brief, intermittent periods of high photosynthetic photon flux density) can represent 10-80% of the total photosynthetic light available for photosynthesis (Pfitsch and Pearcy 1989, Chazdon and Pearcy 1991, Leakey et al. 2005), R rates of the seedlings would have to be very low to guarantee a positive carbon balance. Light compensation points (the light intensity where photosynthetic carbon uptake matches carbon release from cellular respiration; LCPs) are good indicators of metabolic costs of basal metabolism and the degree of plant adaptation to light availability (Bellasio et al. 2016), in which plants in shaded environments tend to present lower LCPs, as an indication of greater efficiency in carbon assimilation. Indeed, estimated LCPs for these seedlings were very low, which, beyond mirroring the low light availability in which these seedlings grew, could also be an evidence of the lack of light inhibition in leaf R, with R<sub>light</sub> rates close to R<sub>dark</sub>. In both situations, light inhibition of R would be most dependent on underlying rates of R<sub>dark</sub>, as an indication of the mitochondrion ability to release CO<sub>2</sub> through the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA cycle) (Ayub et al. 2011).

Pairwise relationships between  $R_{light}$ ,  $R_{dark}$  and  $P_R$  revealed a lack of consistency in association between these response variables, in which treatment-driven variations of  $P_R$  did not play a predictive role, whether positive or negative, in light inhibition of R nor in  $R_{light}$ : $R_{dark}$ ratio. The absence of evidence to support the hypothesis that respiratory fluxes would be impacted not only by eCO<sub>2</sub>, but also by possible links with  $P_R$  might come from the lack of a significant treatment effect on  $P_R$  or that were unable to accurately detect  $R_{light}$  fluxes as previously raised.

#### Phosphorus limitation on aboveground carbon allocation

Our last hypothesis focused on the responses of aboveground organs to eCO<sub>2</sub> and to what extent soil P supply could impact such responses. We observed that P addition induced greater aboveground carbon allocation, while eCO<sub>2</sub> did not affect these parameters, suggesting that P supply limited I. edulis allometric responses to eCO<sub>2</sub>. For instance, unlike previous studies (Norby et al. 1995, Ainsworth and Long 2005), here we did not find a significant effect of eCO<sub>2</sub> on TLA (Figure 3C), revealing a strong P-dependence in leaf growth even under eCO<sub>2</sub>. In fact, the lack of P constrains leaf development, reducing leaf initiation, expansion and growth, which can reduce light interception and plant growth (Fredeen et al. 1989, Chiera et al. 2002). In the same way, seedlings exposed to eCO<sub>2</sub> did not show a significant increment in height (Figure 3A) or diameter (Figure 3C). These results denote that without enough nutrient supply, plants may not respond as expected to eCO<sub>2</sub>, confirming the P limitation hypothesis. In the understory, where light seems to be the most limiting resource (Pearcy, 1983), plants are more likely to invest in height and/or leaf area driven by light search, which was observed in seedlings under high-P supply only. In fact, overall seedlings' H showed a significant positive relationship with D ( $R^2 = 0.1$ , *p*-value = 0.017) and TLA ( $R^2=0.4$ , *p*-value < 0.001; Figure S5A and B). If the absence of an eCO<sub>2</sub> effect on aboveground development under low-P supply repeats itself for other species and ontogenetic stages, it may have important future implications for limiting the CO<sub>2</sub> fertilization effect and carbon sinks in forests with low P natural availabilities.

The seedlings that showed the greatest photosynthetic rates and lower respiratory rates (lower  $R_{dark}$ :  $A_{sat}$  ratios) were not necessarily the ones that showed greater aboveground development. The extra carbon available was not allocated to aboveground development in seedlings exposed to eCO<sub>2</sub> and low-P supply. This could be explained by different patterns in carbon allocation driven by different soil nutrient availability. In fertile soils, plants allocate more carbon to aboveground growth and invest proportionally more of their photosynthates in plant biomass production (Vicca et al. 2012). On low-P soils, plants tend to invest more carbon on strategies to enhance P acquisition, which can lead to lower aboveground development, as observed in our results. Initially, P limitation can enhance root over shoot growth, increasing root:shoot ratios (Pandey et al. 2015). Root growth, especially fine roots, can increase P acquisition efficiency by investing in greater length and specific areas, thus broadening soil exploration (Kong et al. 2016, Lugli et al. 2020). Other strategies related to enhancing P acquisition can be the exudation of organic acids (carbon compounds that promote the direct liberation of inorganic P - P<sub>i</sub> - from soil particles; Hinsinger 2001), phosphatases (enzymes

responsible for hydrolyzing organic P and turning it into Pi; Treseder and Vitousek 2001) and more carbon allocation to mycorrhizal symbionts (Jones et al. 2004). Since we did not measure belowground investment as part of this study, we cannot rule out the effects of differential above/belowground allocation between P availability treatments. Our results suggest that the low aboveground development observed in this study can represent a key role of P availability in carbon allocation of plants growing under eCO<sub>2</sub>.

### Conclusion

Our results show a clear pattern between the responses of physiological and allometric variables of *I. edulis* seedlings to CO<sub>2</sub> and P treatments. Elevated CO<sub>2</sub> showed significant effects on physiological responses whereas high-P supply affected significantly mostly allometric responses, although some allometric variables also tended (i.e. non-significant statistical effect) to respond positively to eCO<sub>2</sub>. In all cases, the lack of evidence of an interaction between both treatments, as well as the P effect only on allometry, suggest that this nutrient may have a differential impact on the responses of plants to eCO<sub>2</sub>, depending on the nature of the processes. As P limited aboveground size and growth of the seedlings, even under eCO<sub>2</sub>, if other species in the region present similar growth patterns, it could indicate major implications to C sink activity in the future. Therefore, more comprehensive studies, accounting for the diversity of species and environments in the Amazon rainforest, merit further investigation.

### Literature cited

- Ainsworth, E.A.; Long, S.P. 2005. What have we learned from 15 years of free-air CO2 enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy properties and plant production to rising CO2. *New Phytologist* 165: 351–372.
- Ainsworth, E.A.; Rogers, A. 2007. The response of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance to rising [CO 2]: Mechanisms and environmental interactions. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 30: 258–270.
- Ainsworth, E.A.; Long, S.P. 2021. 30 years of free-air carbon dioxide enrichment (FACE):What have we learned about future crop productivity and its potential for adaptation?*Global Change Biology* 27: 27–49.

- Amthor, J.S. 1991. Respiration in a future, higher-CO2 world. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 14: 13–20.
- Amthor, J.S. 1994. Plant respiratory responses to the environment and their effects on the carbon balance. *Plant–environment interactions*: 501–554.
- Amthor, J.S. 2000. Direct effect of elevated CO2 on nocturnal in situ leaf respiration in nine temperate deciduous tree species is small. *Tree Physiology* 20: 139–144.
- Araújo, A.C.; Nobre, A.D.; Kruijt, B.; Elbers, J.A.; Dallarosa, R.; Stefani, P.; et al. 2002.
  Comparative measurements of carbon dioxide fluxes from two nearby towers in a central Amazonian rainforest: The Manaus LBA site. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 107: 8090.
- Atkin, O.K.; Evans, J.R.; Siebke, K. 1998. Relationship between the inhibition of leaf respiration by light and enhancement of leaf dark respiration following light treatment. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol* 26.
- Atkin, O.K.; Millar, A.H.; Gardeström, P.; Day, D.A. 2006. Photosynthesis , Carbohydrate Metabolism and Respiration in Leaves of Higher Plants. *Physiology*: 153–175.
- Atkin, O.K.; Evans, J.R.; Ball, M.C.; Lambers, H.; Pons, T.L. 2000. Leaf respiration of snow gum in the light and dark. Interactions between temperature and irradiance. *Plant Physiology* 122: 915–923.
- Ayub, G.; Smith, R.A.; Tissue, D.T.; Atkin, O.K. 2011. Impacts of drought on leaf respiration in darkness and light in Eucalyptus saligna exposed to industrial-age atmospheric CO2 and growth temperature. *New Phytologist* 190: 1003–1018.
- Ayub, G.; Zaragoza-Castells, J.; Griffin, K.L.; Atkin, O.K. 2014. Leaf respiration in darkness and in the light under pre-industrial, current and elevated atmospheric CO2 concentrations. *Plant Science* 226: 120–130.
- Azcón-Bieto, J.; Osmond, C.B. 1983. Relationship between Photosynthesis and Respiration. *Plant Physiology* 71: 574–581.
- Baker, N.R. 2008. Chlorophyll fluorescence: A probe of photosynthesis in vivo. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 59: 89–113.

Barton, K. 2020. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.43.17. Version 1: 18.

- Bellasio, C.; Beerling, D.J.; Griffiths, H. 2016. An Excel tool for deriving key photosynthetic parameters from combined gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence: Theory and practice. *Plant Cell and Environment* 39: 1180–1197.
- Bonan, G.B. 2008. Forests and Climate Change : Climate Benefits of Forests. *Science* 320: 1444–1449.
- Brooks, A.; Farquhar, G.D. 1985. Effect of temperature on the CO2/O2 specificity of ribulose- 1,5-bisphospha te carbo xylase [ 0 xygenase and the rate of respiration in the light. .
- Busch, F.A. 2013. Current methods for estimating the rate of photorespiration in leaves. *Plant Biology* 15: 648–655.
- Bykova, N. V.; Egsgaard, H.; Møller, I.M. 2003. Identification of 14 new phosphoproteins involved in important plant mitochondrial processes. *FEBS Letters* 540: 141–146.
- Carneiro, V.M.C.; Higuchi, N.; Santos, J.; Pinto, A.C.M.; Teixeira, M.; Lima, A.J.N.; et al. 2005. Composição Florística e Análise Estrutural da Floresta de Terra Firme na Região de Manaus, Estado do Amazonas, Brasil. *In Proceedings of the 5<sup>o</sup> Congresso Florestal Nacional—A Floresta e as Gentes*,.
- Cernusak, L.A.; Winter, K.; Martínez, C.; Correa, E.; Aranda, J.; Garcia, M.; et al. 2011. Responses of legume versus nonlegume tropical tree seedlings to elevated CO 2 concentration. *Plant Physiology* 157: 372–385.
- Cernusak, L.A.; Winter, K.; Dalling, J.W.; Holtum, J.A.M.; Jaramillo, C.; Körner, C.; et al. 2013. Tropical forest responses to increasing atmospheric CO2: Current knowledge and opportunities for future research. *Functional Plant Biology* 40: 531–551.
- Chambers, J.Q.; Higuchi, N.; Schimel, J.P.; Ferreira, L. V; Melack, J.M. 2000. Decomposition and carbon cycling of dead trees in tropical f. : 380–388.
- Chazdon, R.L.; Pearcy, R.W. 1991. *The Importance of Sunflecks for Forest Understory Plants.* Vol. 41.760–766p.
- Chiera, J.; Thomas, J.; Rufty, T. 2002. Leaf initiation and development in soybean under

phosphorus stress. Journal of Experimental Botany 53: 473-481.

- Crous, K.Y.; Zaragoza-Castells, J.; Ellsworth, D.S.; Duursma, R.A.; Löw, M.; Tissue, D.T.; et al. 2012. Light inhibition of leaf respiration in field-grown Eucalyptus saligna in wholetree chambers under elevated atmospheric CO2 and summer drought. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 35: 966–981.
- Crous, K.Y.; O'Sullivan, O.S.; Zaragoza-Castells, J.; Bloomfield, K.J.; Negrini, A.C.A.; Meir,
  P.; et al. 2017. Nitrogen and phosphorus availabilities interact to modulate leaf trait
  scaling relationships across six plant functional types in a controlled-environment study. *New Phytologist* 215: 992–1008.
- Drake, B.G.; Gonzàlez-Meler, M.A.; Long, S.P. 1997. More efficient plants: A Consequence of Rising Atmospheric CO2? *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 48: 609–639.
- Dusenge, M.E.; Duarte, A.G.; Way, D.A. 2019. Plant carbon metabolism and climate change: elevated CO2 and temperature impacts on photosynthesis, photorespiration and respiration. *New Phytologist* 221: 32–49.
- Ellsworth, D.S.; Crous, K.Y.; Lambers, H.; Cooke, J. 2015. Phosphorus recycling in photorespiration maintains high photosynthetic capacity in woody species. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 38: 1142–1156.
- Ellsworth, D.S.; Anderson, I.C.; Crous, K.Y.; Cooke, J.; Drake, J.E.; Gherlenda, A.N.; et al. 2017. Elevated CO2 does not increase eucalypt forest productivity on a low-phosphorus soil. *Nature Climate Change* 7: 279–282.
- Farquhar, G.D.; Caemmerer, S. Von; Berry, J.A. 1980. A Biochemical Model of Photosynthetic CO 2 Assimilation in Leaves of C 3 Species G.D. 90: 78–90.
- Ferreira, S.J.F.; Luizão, F.J.; Dallarosa, R.L.G. . Ferreira, Luizão, Dallarosa Unknown -Precipitação interna e interceptação da chuva em floresta de terra firme submetida à extração seletiva de madei.pdf. 35: 55–62.
- Fleischer, K.; Rammig, A.; De Kauwe, M.G.; Walker, A.P.; Domingues, T.F.; Fuchslueger,
  L.; et al. 2019. Amazon forest response to CO2 fertilization dependent on plant
  phosphorus acquisition. *Nature Geoscience* 12: 736–741.
- Fredeen, A.L.; Rao, I.M.; Terry, N. 1989. Influence of phosphorus nutrition on growth and

carbon partitioning in Glycine max. Plant Physiology 89: 225-230.

- Friedlingstein, P.; Sullivan, M.O.; Jones, M.W.; Andrew, R.M.; Hauck, J. 2020. Global Carbon Budget 2020. 2020: 3269–3340.
- Genty, B.; Briantais, J.M.; Baker, N.R. 1989. The relationship between the quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - General Subjects* 990: 87–92.
- Gonzàlez-Meler, M.A.; Giles, L.; Thomas, R.B.; Siedow, J.N. 2001. Metabolic regulation of leaf respiration and alternative pathway activity in response to phosphate supply. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 24: 205–215.
- Griffin, K.L.; Turnbull, M.H. 2013. Light saturated RuBP oxygenation by Rubisco is a robust predictor of light inhibition of respiration in Triticum aestivum L. *Plant Biology* 15: 769–775.
- Hinsinger, P. 2001. Bioavailability of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as affected by rootinduced chemical changes: A review. *Plant and Soil*: 173–195.
- Hofhansl, F.; Andersen, K.M.; Fleischer, K.; Fuchslueger, L.; Rammig, A.; Schaap, K.J.; et al. 2016. Amazon forest ecosystem responses to elevated atmospheric Co2 and alterations in nutrient availability: Filling the gaps with model-experiment integration. *Frontiers in Earth Science* 4: 1–9.
- Hönisch, B.; Hemming, N.G.; Archer, D.; Siddall, M.; McManus, J.F. 2009. Atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration across the mid-pleistocene transition. *Science* 324: 1551– 1554.
- Hurry, V.; Igamberdiev, A.U.; Keerberg, O. 2005. Plant Respiration. Plant Respiration.
- Hurry, V.; Keerberg, O.; Pärnik, T.; Öquist, G.; Gardeström, P. 1996. Effect of Cold Hardening on the Components of Respiratory Decarboxylation in the Light and in the Dark in Leaves of Winter Rye. *Plant Physiology* 111: 713–719.
- Husson, A.F.; Josse, J.; Le, S.; Mazet, J.; Husson, M.F. 2020. Package ' FactoMineR .' .
- IPCC. 2014. Climate Change 2014 Mitigation of Climate Change. Summary for Policymakers. 1–30p.

- Jiang, M.; Caldararu, S.; Zaehle, S.; Ellsworth, D.S.; Medlyn, B.E. 2019. Towards a more physiological representation of vegetation phosphorus processes in land surface models. *New Phytologist* 222: 1223–1229.
- Jiang, M.; Caldararu, S.; Zhang, H.; Fleischer, K.; Crous, K.Y.; Yang, J.; et al. 2020. Low phosphorus supply constrains plant responses to elevated CO2: A meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology* 26: 5856–5873.
- Jones, D.; Hodge, A.; Kuzyakov, Y. 2004. Plant and mycorrhizal regulation of rhizodeposition. *New Phytologist* 163: 459–480.
- Kassambara, A.; Mundt, F. 2020. Package ' factoextra .' CRAN- R Package: 84.
- Kong, D.L.; Wang, J.J.; Kardol, P.; Wu, H.F.; Zeng, H.; Deng, X.B.; et al. 2016. Economic strategies of plant absorptive roots vary with root diameter. *Biogeosciences* 13: 415–424.
- Kromer, S. 1995. Respiration During. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 46: 45-70.
- Lambers, H.; Raven, J.A.; Shaver, G.R.; Smith, S.E. 2008. Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 23: 95–103.
- Lapola, D.M. 2017. Amazon-FACE: Assessing the effects of increased atmospheric CO2 on the ecology and resilience of the Amazon forest - Science Plan and Implementation Strategy. : 51.
- Lapola, D.M.; Norby, R.J. 2014. Amazon-FACE: Assessing the effects of increased atmospheric CO2 on the ecology and resilience of the Amazon forest Science Plan and Implementation Strategy. : 51.
- Leadley, P.W.; Drake, B.G. 1993. Open top chambers for exposing plant canopies to elevated CO2 concentration and for measuring net gas exchange. *Vegetatio* 104–105: 3–15.
- Leakey, A.D.B.; Lau, J.A. 2012. Evolutionary context for understanding and manipulating plant responses to past, present and future atmospheric [CO2]. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 367: 613–629.
- Leakey, A.D.B.; Scholes, J.D.; Press, M.C. 2005. Physiological and ecological significance of sunflecks for dipterocarp seedlings. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56: 469–482.
- Leakey, A.D.B.; Bishop, K.A.; Ainsworth, E.A. 2012. A multi-biome gap in understanding of

crop and ecosystem responses to elevated CO 2. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 15: 228–236.

- Leakey, A.D.B.; Ainsworth, E.A.; Bernacchi, C.J.; Rogers, A.; Long, S.P.; Ort, D.R. 2009. Elevated CO2 effects on plant carbon, nitrogen, and water relations: Six important lessons from FACE. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 60: 2859–2876.
- Lobo, F. de A.; de Barros, M.P.; Dalmagro, H.J.; Dalmolin, Â.C.; Pereira, W.E.; de Souza,
  É.C.; et al. 2013. Fitting net photosynthetic light-response curves with Microsoft Excel a critical look at the models. *Photosynthetica* 51: 445–456.
- LONG, S.P. 1991. Modification of the response of photosynthetic productivity to rising temperature by atmospheric CO2 concentrations: Has its importance been underestimated? *Plant, Cell & Environment* 14: 729–739.
- Loveys, B.R.; Scheurwater, I.; Pons, T.L.; Fitter, A.H.; Atkin, O.K. 2003. Erratum: Growth temperature influences the underlying components of relative growth rate: An investigation using inherently fast- and slow-growing plant species (Plant, Cell and Environment (2002) 25 (975-988)). *Plant, Cell and Environment* 26: 1927.
- Lugli, L.F.; Rosa, J.S.; Andersen, K.M.; Di Ponzio, R.; Almeida, R. V.; Pires, M.; et al. 2020. Rapid responses of root traits and productivity to phosphorus and cation additions in a tropical lowland forest in Amazonia. *New Phytologist*: 0–1.
- Lüthi, D.; Le Floch, M.; Bereiter, B.; Blunier, T.; Barnola, J.M.; Siegenthaler, U.; et al. 2008. High-resolution carbon dioxide concentration record 650,000-800,000 years before present. *Nature* 453: 379–382.
- Magnusson, A.; Skaug, H.; Nielsen, A.; Berg, C.; Kristensen, K.; Maechler, M.; et al. 2020. *Package 'glmmTMB*.' R package. Version 1.0.2.1p.
- McCashin, B.G.; Cossins, E.A.; Canvin, D.T. 1988. Dark Respiration during Photosynthesis in Wheat Leaf Slices. *Plant Physiology* 87: 155–161.
- Nakagawa, S.; Schielzeth, H. 2013. A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 4: 133–142.
- Norby, R.J.; Zak, D.R. 2011. Ecological and evolutionary lessons from free air carbon enhancement (FACE) experiments. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and*

Systematics 42.

- Norby, R.J.; Warren, J.M.; Iversen, C.M.; Medlyn, B.E.; McMurtrie, R.E. 2010. CO2 enhancement of forest productivity constrained by limited nitrogen availability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107: 19368–19373.
- Norby, R.J.; DeLucia, E.H.; Gielen, B.; Calfapietra, C.; Giardina, C.P.; King, J.S.; et al. 2005.
   Forest response to elevated CO2 is conserved across a broad range of productivity.
   *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102: 18052–18056.
- Norby, R.J.; Wullschleger, S.D.; Gunderson, C.A.; Nietch, C.T. 1995. Increased growth efficiency of Quercus alba trees in a CO2-enriched atmosphere. *New Phytologist* 131: 91–97.
- O'Leary, B.M.; Asao, S.; Millar, A.H.; Atkin, O.K. 2019. Core principles which explain variation in respiration across biological scales. *New Phytologist* 222: 670–686.
- Oren, R.; Ellsworth, D.S.; Johnsen, K.H.; Phillips, N.; Ewers, B.E.; Maier, C.; et al. 2001. Soil fertility limits carbon sequestration by forest ecosystems in a CO2-enriched atmosphere. *Nature* 411: 469–472.
- Pagani, M.; Caldeira, K.; Berner, R.; Beerling, D.J. 2009. The role of terrestrial plants in limiting atmospheric CO2 decline over the past 24 million years. *Nature* 460: 85–88.
- Pan, Y.; Birdsey, R. a; Fang, J.; Houghton, R.; Kauppi, P.E.; Kurz, W. a; et al. 2011. A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 333: 988–993.
- Pandey, R.; Zinta, G.; AbdElgawad, H.; Ahmad, A.; Jain, V.; Janssens, I.A. 2015.
  Physiological and molecular alterations in plants exposed to high [CO2] under phosphorus stress. *Biotechnology Advances* 33: 303–316.
- Pärnik, T.; Keerberg, O. 1995. Decarboxylation of primary and end products of photosynthesis at different oxygen concentrations. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 46: 1439–1477.
- Pärnik, T.R.; Voronin, P.Y.; Ivanova, H.N.; Keerberg, O.F. 2002. Respiratory CO2 fluxes in photosynthesizing leaves of C 3 species varying in rates of starch synthesis. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 49: 729–735.

- Paul, M.J.; Foyer, C.H. 2001. Sink regulation of photosynthesis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 52: 1383–1400.
- Pérez-Harguindeguy, N.; Díaz, S.; Garnier, E.; Lavorel, S.; Poorter, H.; Jaureguiberry, P.; et al. 2016. Corrigendum to: New handbook for standardised measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. *Australian Journal of Botany* 64: 715.
- Pfitsch, W.A.; Pearcy, R.W. 1989. Daily carbon gain by Adenocaulon bicolor (Asteraceae), a redwood forest understory herb, in relation to its light environment. *Oecologia* 80: 465– 470.
- Phillips, O.L.; Aragão, L.E.O.C.; Lewis, S.L.; Fisher, J.B.; Lloyd, J.; López-gonzález, G.; et al. 2009. Drought Sensitivity of the Amazon Rainforest. 323: 1344–1347.
- Pimentel, C.; Oliveira, R.F. de; Ribeiro, R.V.; Santos, M.G. dos; Machado, E.C. 2011. Características fotossintéticas de Phaseolus vulgaris L. *Hoehnea* 38: 273–280.
- Plaxton, W.C.; Podestá, F.E. 2006. The functional organization and control of plant respiration. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 25: 159–198.
- Plaxton, W.C.; Tran, H.T. 2011. Metabolic adaptations of phosphate-starved plants. *Plant Physiology* 156: 1006–1015.
- Poorter, L.; Castilho, C. V.; Schietti, J.; Oliveira, R.S.; Costa, F.R.C. 2018. Can traits predict individual growth performance? A test in a hyperdiverse tropical forest. *New Phytologist* 219: 109–121.
- Productivity, C. 1989. Respiration and crop productivity. Vol. 27.27-1532-27-1532p.
- Quesada, C.A.; Lloyd, J.; Anderson, L.O.; Fyllas, N.M.; Schwarz, M.; Czimczik, C.I. 2011. Soils of Amazonia with particular reference to the RAINFOR sites. *Biogeosciences* 8: 1415–1440.
- Quesada, C.A.; Phillips, O.L.; Schwarz, M.; Czimczik, C.I.; Baker, T.R.; Patiño, S.; et al. 2012. Basin-wide variations in Amazon forest structure and function are mediated by both soils and climate. *Biogeosciences* 9: 2203–2246.
- R Core, T. 2020. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. .

Rao, I.M.; Terry, N. 1995. Leaf phosphate status, photosynthesis, and carbon partitioning in

sugar beet. IV. Changes with time following increased supply of phosphate to low-phosphate plants. *Plant Physiology* 107: 1313–1321.

- Reich, P.B.; Hobbie, S.E.; Lee, T.; Ellsworth, D.S.; West, J.B.; Tilman, D.; et al. 2006.
  Nitrogen limitation constrains sustainability of ecosystem response to CO2. *Nature* 440: 922–925.
- Santiago, L.S. 2015. Nutrient limitation of eco-physiological processes in tropical trees. *Trees* - *Structure and Function* 29: 1291–1300.
- Santiago, L.S.; Wright, S.J.; Harms, K.E.; Yavitt, J.B.; Korine, C.; Garcia, M.N.; et al. 2012. Tropical tree seedling growth responses to nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium addition. *Journal of Ecology* 100: 309–316.
- Sharkey, T.D. 1988. Estimating the rate of photorespiration in leaves. *Physiologia Plantarum* 73: 147–152.
- Sharkey, T.D.; Bernacchi, C.J.; Farquhar, G.D.; Singsaas, E.L. 2007. Fitting photosynthetic carbon dioxide response curves for C3 leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 30: 1035– 1040.
- Springer, C.J.; Thomas, R.B. 2007. Photosynthetic responses of forest understory tree species to long-term exposure to elevated carbon dioxide concentration at the Duke Forest FACE experiment. *Tree Physiology* 27: 25–32.
- Taiz, L.; Zeiger, E.; Møller, I.M.; Murphy., A. 2006. *Plant physiology and development*. Vol. 6.410p.
- Tanaka, L.M.D.S.; Satyamurty, P.; Machado, L.A.T. 2014. Diurnal variation of precipitation in central Amazon Basin. *International Journal of Climatology* 34: 3574–3584.
- Tcherkez, G.; Atkin, O.K. 2021. Unravelling mechanisms and impacts of day respiration in plant leaves: an introduction to a Virtual Issue. *New Phytologist* 230: 5–10.
- Tcherkez, G.; Boex-Fontvieille, E.; Mahé, A.; Hodges, M. 2012. Respiratory carbon fluxes in leaves. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 15: 308–314.
- Tcherkez, G.; Cornic, G.; Bligny, R.; Gout, E.; Ghashghaie, J. 2005. In vivo respiratory metabolism of illuminated leaves. *Plant Physiology* 138: 1596–1606.

- Tcherkez, G.; Bligny, R.; Gout, E.; Mahé, A.; Hodges, M.; Cornic, G. 2008. Respiratory metabolism of illuminated leaves depends on CO2 and O2 conditions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105: 797–802.
- Tcherkez, G.; Gauthier, P.; Buckley, T.N.; Busch, F.A.; Barbour, M.M.; Bruhn, D.; et al. 2017. Leaf day respiration: low CO2 flux but high significance for metabolism and carbon balance. *New Phytologist* 216: 986–1001.
- Thompson, J.B.; Slot, M.; Dalling, J.W.; Winter, K.; Turner, B.L.; Zalamea, P.C. 2019. Species-specific effects of phosphorus addition on tropical tree seedling response to elevated CO2. *Functional Ecology* 33: 1871–1881.
- Treseder, K.K.; Vitousek, P.M. 2001. Effects os soil nutrient availability on investment of N and P in Hawaian rain forest. *Ecology* 82: 946–954.
- Vicca, S.; Luyssaert, S.; Peñuelas, J.; Campioli, M.; Chapin, F.S.; Ciais, P.; et al. 2012. Fertile forests produce biomass more efficiently. *Ecology Letters* 15: 520–526.
- Vieira, S.; De Camargo, P.B.; Selhorst, D.; Da Silva, R.; Hutyra, L.; Chambers, J.Q.; et al. 2004. Forest structure and carbon dynamics in Amazonian tropical rain forests. *Oecologia* 140: 468–479.
- Vitousek, P.M.; Howarth, R.W. 1991. Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: How can it occur? *Biogeochemistry* 13: 87–115.
- Vitousek, P.M.; Porder, S.; Houlton, B.Z.; Chadwick, O.A. 2010. Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: Mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen-phosphorus interactions. *Ecological Applications* 20: 5–15.
- Walker, T.W.; Syers, J.K. 1976. The fate of phosphorus during pedogenesis. *Geoderma* 15: 1–19.
- Wang, X.; Lewis, J.D.; Tissue, D.T.; Seemann, J.R.; Griffin, K.L. 2001. Effects of elevated atmospheric CO2 concentration on leaf dark respiration of Xanthium strumarium in light and in darkness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98: 2479–2484.
- Way, D.A.; Oren, R.; Kroner, Y. 2015. The space-time continuum: The effects of elevatedCO2 and temperature on trees and the importance of scaling. *Plant Cell and*

Environment 38: 991–1007.

- Winter, K.; Garcia, M.; Gottsberger, R.; Popp, M. 2001. Marked growth response of communities of two tropical tree species to elevated CO2 when soil nutrient limitation is removed. *Flora* 196: 47–58.
- Wullschleger, S.D.; Ziska, L.H.; Bunce, J.A. 1994. Respiratory responses of higher plants to atmospheric CO2 enrichment. *Physiologia Plantarum* 90: 221–229.
- Wullschleger, S.D.; Norby, R.J.; Gunderson, C.A. 1992. Growth and maintenance respiration in leaves of Liriodendron tulipifera L. exposed to long-term carbon dioxide enrichment in the field. *New Phytologist* 121: 515–523.
- Xu, Z.; Jiang, Y.; Zhou, G. 2015. Response and adaptation of photosynthesis, respiration, and antioxidant systems to elevated CO2 with environmental stress in plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 6: 1–17.
- Yin, X.; Sun, Z.; Struik, P.C.; Gu, J. 2011. Evaluating a new method to estimate the rate of leaf respiration in the light by analysis of combined gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 62: 3489–3499.
- Yin, X.; Struik, P.C.; Romero, P.; Harbinson, J.; Evers, J.B.; Van Der Putten, P.E.L.; et al. 2009. Using combined measurements of gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence to estimate parameters of a biochemical C3 photosynthesis model: A critical appraisal and a new integrated approach applied to leaves in a wheat (Triticum aestivum) canopy. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 32: 448–464.
- Zaragoza-Castells, J.; Sánchez-Gómez, D.; Valladares, F.; Hurry, V.; Atkin, O.K. 2007. Does growth irradiance affect temperature dependence and thermal acclimation of leaf respiration? Insights from a Mediterranean tree with long-lived leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 30: 820–833.
- Zhao, M.; Running, S.W. 2010. Drought-induced reduction in global terrestrial net primary production from 2000 through 2009. *Science* 329: 940–943.

## **Figures and tables**



**Figure 1** Boxplots showing the responses of leaf carbon metabolism for  $CO_2$  and P treatments. **A**) Light-saturated net photosynthetic  $CO_2$  assimilation rate  $(A_{net})$ , **B**) Leaf respiration in the darkness  $(R_{dark})$ , **C**) Leaf respiration in the light  $(R_{light})$  and **D**) Photorespiration  $(P_R)$ . The boxes indicate the interquartile range and median (black solid lines) for each treatment. Red points are mean values and open circles are outliers (observations outside whiskers). The boxes in light grey indicate low-P treatment (natural soil phosphorous availability) and in dark grey, high-P treatment (phosphorous addition). Text at the bottom right of each plot indicates the number of repetitions (n) for each treatment.



**Figure 2** Pairwise relationships between physiological variables. A) Leaf respiration in the light ( $R_{light}$ ) and leaf respiration in the darkness ( $R_{dark}$ ), **B**)  $R_{light}$  and photorespiration ( $P_R$ ) and **C**) Ratio  $R_{light}$ : $R_{dark}$  and  $P_R$ . The number of points are equal to the number of observations (n = 31-32). Colored points indicate different treatments as specified in the legend. Black dashed lines indicate lack of a significant effect between the variables. Grey shaded regions indicate the standard error (SE) of the statistical model used (linear regression).



Figure 3 Boxplots showing the responses of aboveground organs (stem and leaves) and aboveground size for  $CO_2$  and P treatments. Variables shown are: A) Height, B) Diameter, C) Total leaf area and D) Seedling size. The boxes indicate the interquartile range and median (black solid lines) for each treatment. Red points are mean values and open points are outliers (observations outside whiskers). The light grey boxes indicate low-P treatment (natural soil phosphorous availability) and dark grey, high-P treatment (phosphorous addition). The text at the bottom right of each plot indicates the number of repetitions (n) for each treatment.

**Table 1** Environmental data of each open-top chamber (OTC), according to  $CO_2$  treatment. Values shown in columns are means  $\pm$  1sd. Symbols next to the OTC identification indicate pairwise connected OTCs. (ambient and elevated  $CO_2$ ).'TSRT' stands for Total Solar Radiation Transmitted and 'VWC', Volumetric Water Content. TSRT and VWC were averaged from measurements made on the six pots (n = 6) inside each OTC (expect for OTC 1, where n = 4).

Open-top chamber (OTC) ID	CO <sub>2</sub> treatment	Geographical coordinates	VWC (% volume)		TSRT (mol m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )	
		(latitude/ longitude)	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
1¶	Ambient	2°35'44.12''S	13.81	4.81	2.37	0.51
2¶	Elevated	2°35'43.92''S	13.80	3.43	1.68	0.63
X§	Ambient	2°35'41.41''S	20.70	3.16	7.91	1.94
5 <sup>§</sup>	Elevated	2°35'41.77''S	21.73	5.18	6.22	5.28
$4^{\pounds}$	Elevated	2° 35' 43.27'' S	19.37	1.63	3.17	0.86
$8^{\pounds}$	Ambient	2°35'45.86''S	18.34	1.67	2.00	0.68
$Y^{\Sigma}$	Elevated	2°35'46.74''S	18.86	3.36	4.44	1.80
9 <sup>¥</sup>	Ambient	2°35'47.14''S	17.87	1.65	3.84	0.95

**Table 2** Variable responses of each combination of  $CO_2$  and P treatment. Values shown in columns are means  $\pm 1$  sd. Values in column '% $\Delta$ ' are the percentage change of response relative to the control treatment (Ambient  $CO_2/Low$ -P). 'N' stands for the number of repetitions for each measurement. For variable abbreviations, see Material and Methods section.

Response variable	Ai	Elevated CO <sub>2</sub>				N		
	Low P	High P %		Low P	%Δ	High P	%Δ	IN
A <sub>sat</sub> (µmol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	$4.486 \pm 0.667$	$4.541 \pm 0.588$	1.23	$5.154 \pm 1.013$	14.93	$4.995 \pm 0.596$	11.40	8
$g_{sw}$ at $A_{sat}$ (µmol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	$0.150 \pm 0.046$	$0.144 \pm 0.030$	-3.67	$0.132 \pm 0.031$	-11.8	$0.113 \pm 0.043$	-24.84	8
$R_{dark} (\mu mol m^{-2}s^{-1})$	$0.143 \pm 0.066$	$0.106\pm0.038$	-26.06	$0.109\pm0.057$	-23.71	$0.068 \pm 0.044$	-52.33	8
$R_{light} (\mu mol m^{-2}s^{-1})$	$0.048 \pm 0.045$	$0.045 \pm 0.044$	-7.49	$0.152 \pm 0.119$	213.69	$0.075 \pm 0.117$	56.07	8
$P_R$ (µmol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	$0.844 \pm 0.519$	$0.932 \pm 0.246$	10.37	$1.109\pm0.576$	31.40	$1.007\pm0.686$	19.32	8
$R_{dark}/A_{sat}$	$0.031 \pm 0.009$	$0.024 \pm 0.009$	-23.78	$0.021 \pm 0.010$	-30.87	$0.013\pm0.007$	-57.11	8
$R_{light}/R_{dark}$	$0.330 \pm 0.356$	$0.357 \pm 0.437$	8.25	$1.322 \pm 1.014$	300.43	$2.043 \pm 3.169$	518.99	8
Height (cm)	$21.018 \pm 4.622$	$25.691 \pm 6.137$	22.23	$22.175 \pm 4.388$	5.50	$27.933 \pm 9.348$	32.9	11-12
Diameter (cm)	$0.455\pm0.05$	$0.504 \pm 0.068$	10.91	$0.493 \pm 0.060$	8.37	$0.53 \pm 0.06$	16.34	11-12
H:D ratio	$46.846 \pm 12.047$	$50.821 \pm 10.119$	8.48	$45.042 \pm 7.621$	-3.85	$53.277 \pm 18.856$	13.73	11-12
Crown height (cm)	$9.045 \pm 3.382$	$14.655 \pm 6.406$	62.01	$9.125 \pm 3.276$	0.88	$14.208 \pm 8.729$	57.08	11-12
Crown diameter (cm)	$24.136 \pm 6.233$	$31.727 \pm 5$	31.45	$32.542 \pm 4.746$	34.82	$34.75\pm9.087$	43.97	11-12
CH:CD ratio	$0.395 \pm 0.168$	$0.468 \pm 0.199$	18.44	$0.280\pm0.094$	-29.01	$0.405\pm0.189$	2.56	11-12
Number of leaves (#)	$6.00 \pm 1.265$	$8.000 \pm 1.949$	32.31	$8.083 \pm 2.392$	26.92	$9.000 \pm 2.629$	46.66	11-12
Mean leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	$53 \pm 21.915$	61. 115 ± 19	15.30	$55.574 \pm 9.498$	4.85	$78.076 \pm 23.474$	47.3	11-12
Total leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	$308.174 \pm 151.615$	$498.127 \pm 269.662$	60.64	$418.672 \pm 114.985$	35.86	$697.605 \pm 343.14$	126.37	11-12
Leaf thickness (mm)	$0.113\pm0.006$	$0.111\pm0.004$	-1.48	$0.116\pm0.008$	2.87	$0.112\pm0.005$	-0.93	11-12
Relative growth rate (cm day <sup>-1</sup> )	$0.064 \pm 0.011$	$0.073 \pm 0.017$	22.78	$0.069\pm0.016$	5.04	$0.084 \pm 0.03$	32.36	11-12

**Table 3** Statistical significance of predictors used in the models. Significant p-values ( $p \le 0.05$ ) are indicated in bold. '-' indicates interaction and/or covariates not included in the selected model. All models consider the same random effects structure (OTCs and parent tree). ' $R^2_{fixed}$ ' stands for the coefficient of determination of fixed effects and ' $R^2_{random}$ ' stands for the coefficient of determination of random effects. ' $R^2_{model}$ ' stands for the coefficient of determination effects. 'TSRT' stands for Total Solar Radiation Transmitted (mol m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) and 'VWC', Volumetric Water Content (%). For other variable abbreviations, see Material and Methods section.

Baspansa yariahla		Main	effects	Covariates		D2	D2	D2	Probability	Link
Response variable	Interaction	$CO_2$	Р	TSRT	WVC	<b>K</b> <sup>-</sup> fixed	K <sup>-</sup> random	K <sup>-</sup> model	distribution	function
$A_{sat}$ (µmol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	-	0.005	0.926	-	0.014	0.301	0.007	0.308	Gamma	log
$g_{sw}$ at $A_{sat}$ (µmol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	-	0.074	0.297	-	0.003	0.311	0.051	0.362	Gamma	log
$R_{dark} (\mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1})$	-	0.045	0.067	0.013	-	0.393	0.155	0.548	Gamma	log
$R_{light} \ (\mu mol \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1})$	-	0.024	0.177	-	-	0.181	0.016	0.0197	Gaussian	identity
$P_R (\mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1})$	-	0.492	0.933	-	-	0.028	0.264	0.292	Gaussian	identity
$R_{dark}/A_{sat}$	-	0.011	0.019	0.013	-	0.465	0.221	0.686	Gamma	log
$R_{light}/R_{dark}$		0.017	0.501	-	-	0.1651	0.0001	0.1652	Gaussian	identity
Height (cm)	-	0.932	0.004	-	-	0.072	0.537	0.609	Gamma	log
Diameter (cm)	-	0.685	0.268	-	-	0.027	0.094	0.121	Gamma	log
Number of leaves (#)	-	0.073	0.060	-	-	0.124	0.009	0.133	Poisson	log
Total leaf area (cm <sup>2</sup> )	-	0.0773	<0.001	-	-	0.347	0.296	0.643	Gamma	log
Seedling size (unitless)	-	0.311	<0.001	-	-	0.207	0.330	0.537	Gaussian	identity
Relative growth rate (cm day <sup>-1</sup> )	-	0.902	0.004	-	-	0.075	0.527	0.602	Gamma	log

## **Supporting Information**



**Figure S1** Photographs of the study area: **A**) Photograph of an OTC, showing the steel-polypropylene structure and distribution of pots inside one of the OTCs **B**) Photograph of a pot inside one of the open top chambers (OTCs), on day 160 of the experiment .

#### Notes S1 Estimation of light saturation point (LSP)

#### Gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements

We made light response curves to estimate the light saturation point (LSP) on three seedlings in three of the four treatments (Ambient CO2/Low P, Ambient CO2/High P and Elevated CO<sub>2</sub>/Low P), using an open gas exchange system (Li-Cor 6800; Li-Cor Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA) with a 6cm<sup>2</sup> integrated fluorescence chamber head (Li-Cor 6800 Leaf Chamber Fluorometer). All the measurements were carried out as described in the section 'Gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements' of Material and Methods, with air flow rate of 700  $\mu$ molm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> and ambient O<sub>2</sub> (21%O<sub>2</sub>). We acclimated leaves under irradiance of 700  $\mu$ mol photon m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> for at least 30min and decreased photosynthetically photon flux density (PPFD) stepwise (700, 600, 500, 400, 350, 300, 250, 200, 150, 100, 75, 50, 25, 0  $\mu$ mol photon m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>). For every light step (3-5 min), five parameters of stability ( $\Delta CO_2$ ,  $\Delta H_2O$ , A,  $g_{sw}$  and F) were used. Steady-state fluorescence (Fs), light-adapted maximal fluorescence (Fm'), applying an instantaneous saturating light pulse (8000 µmol photon m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> for 0.5 s), and light-adapted minimal fluorescence (Fo'), applying a dark pulse, were measured simultaneously with GE measurements at every step of the curves. Dark-adapted maximal fluorescence (Fm) was also measured, covering the same leaves used in the curves with an aluminum paper for at least 30min. We then calculated the photochemical quenching (qP) as qP = (Fm'-Fs)/(Fm'-Fo'),

57

used as an estimate of the proportion of photosystem II (PSII) open centers, which indicates that light energy is being used to photochemistry. Non-photochemical quenching (NPQ) was calculated as NPQ = (Fm/Fm')-1, and used as an estimate of the apparent rate of constant heat loss from PSII or the dissipation of light energy that is being lost through heat (Baker 2008).

#### Methods used to estimate the light saturation point

We used three different methods to estimate LSP. First, we estimated it visually as the light point where the relationship between net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation (A) and photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) stops being linear and becomes curvilinear, where there are not significant changes in A (Figure S1A). Second, we estimated LSP by plotting the photochemical quenching (qP) against the non-photochemical quenching (NPQ), where LSP is the PPFD point in which qP and NPQ curves cross (Pimentel et al. 2011; Figure S1B). At last, we used the nine Microsoft Excel spreadsheets provided by Lobo et al. (2013) to fit A-PPFD curves. Each spreadsheet is linked to a mathematical model to estimate LSP. Therefore we chose the model that yielded the smallest error (Sum of the Squares of the Errors; SSE) as the most appropriate to describe our data (Non-Rectangular Hyperbola). Since LSP estimates varied little between methods (Table S1), we chose the highest value found using qP x NPQ plots (250 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-2</sup>).



**Figure S2.** Representative plots of **A**) Net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation (A,  $\mu$ molCO<sub>2</sub> mol<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-2</sup>) versus photosynthetically photon flux density (PPFD,  $\mu$ mol photon mol<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-2</sup>). **B**) Photochemical quenching (qP) versus non-photochemical quenching (NPQ) versus PPFD ( $\mu$ mol photon mol<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-2</sup>). Black points indicate qP values and grey points, NPQ values. Data are from one seedling, exposed to Ambient CO<sub>2</sub> and low-P supply (Control).

Treatment	Pot	Light curve shape	qP x NPQ (Pimentel <i>et al.</i> 2013)	Non-Rectangular Hyperbola (Lobo <i>et al.</i> 2013)	
Ambient CO <sub>2</sub> /	17	100-200	170	237	
Low-P	31	100-200	170	159	
(Control)	35	100-200	190	230	
Ambient CO <sub>2</sub> / High-P	18	100-200	170	137	
	32	100-200	150	181	
	36	100-200	200	208	
Elevated CO <sub>2</sub> / Low-P	7	100-250	250	315	
	19	100-250	150	232	
	21	100-250	150	220	

**Table S1.** Comparison of the three different methods to estimate light saturation point (LSP,  $\mu$ mol photon mol<sup>-1</sup>s<sup>-</sup><sup>2</sup>). Light response curves were made on three seedlings of three treatments as described in the column 'Treatment'

Notes S2 Decision on the air flow rate for leaf respiration measurements

Considering that respiratory fluxes are at least two to six times lower than assimilatory ones (Taiz et al. 2006), we reduced the air flow rate inside the chamber to increase  $\Delta CO_2$  between reference and leaf sample. We made light curves using the same parameters described on section 'Gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements' of Material and Methods, using ambient O<sub>2</sub> (21%O<sub>2</sub>) and changing air flow rate (200, 300 and 400 µmolm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) (Figure S2). We acclimated leaves under irradiance of 80 µmol m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> PPFD for at least 30min and decreased photosynthetically photon flux density (PPFD) stepwise (80, 70, 60, 50, 40, 30, 25, 20, 15, 10, 5  $\mu$ mol photon m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>). At every light step, we allowed the stability parameters to reach steady-state (2-3min) and also measured steady-state fluorescence (Fs) and light-adapted maximal fluorescence (Fm') as we applied a saturating light pulse (pulse (8000 µmol photon m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> for 0.5 s). We then calculated PSII electron (e<sup>-</sup>) transport efficiency ( $\Phi_{PSII}$ ) as  $\Delta F/Fm'=$ (Fm'-Fs)/Fm' (Genty *et al.* 1989) and plotted the linear regression of A against (PPFD \*  $\Phi_{PSII}/4$ ) (Yin et al. 2009, 2011). These curve tests were made on the same seedlings used on the tests to estimate LSP. Our decision on the best air flow rate relied on comparison of the coefficients of determination (R<sup>2</sup>), residual standard errors (SE) and percentage of leakage (averaged from all points of each curve) (Table S2). We chose the flow rate that yielded the highest R<sup>2</sup>, lowest SE and lowest leakage (300 µmolm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>).

Treatment	Pot	Flow rate (µmol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	R <sup>2</sup> SE		Mean leak percentage (%)
		200	0.99	0.05	11
	17	300	0.99	0.07	7
		400	0.91	0.2	0
Ambient CO <sub>2</sub> /		200	0.99	0.05	12.6
Low-P	31	300	0.99	0.06	1
(Control)		400	0.99	0.07	0
		200	0.98	0.15	5
	35	300	0.99	0.06	0
		400	0.99	0.08	0
		200	0.99	0.07	10
	18	300	0.99	0.08	4
		400	0.98	0.12	0
Ambient CO <sub>2</sub> /		200	0.99	0.08	7.3
High-P	32	300	0.99	0.07	0
(Control)		400	0.99	0.07	0
		200	0.99	0.05	22
	36	300	0.99	0.03	0
		400	0.98	0.08	0
		200	0.98	0.09	6.85
	7	300	0.99	0.08	0
		400	0.99	0.14	0
		200	0.99	0.05	15
Elevated CO <sub>2</sub> / Low-P	19	300	0.98	0.14	8
		400	0.99	0.09	2
		200	0.99	0.06	5.01
	21	300	0.98	0.1	0
		400	0.98	0.13	0

**Table S2.** Values of coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>), Residual Standard Error (SE) and mean leak percentage (%) of the linear regressions obtained by plotting A against (PPFD \*  $\Phi_{PSII}/4$ ) (Yin et al. 2009, 2011).



**Figure S3** Representative plot of A against (PPFD \*  $\Phi_{PSII}/4$ ). Data are from one seedling, exposed to Ambient CO<sub>2</sub> and low-P supply (Control).



**Figure S4** Principal Component Analyses (PCA) of allometric variables linked to carbon allocation. Variables used are: height (H), diameter (D), crown height (CH), crown diameter (CD), total leaf area (TLA) and leaf thickness (Lth). Colored points indicate different treatments as specified in the legend.



**Figure S5**. Pairwise relationships between allometric variables. **A**) Diameter (D) and height (H) **B**) Total leaf area (TLA) and H. The number of points are equal to the number of observations (n = 46). Colored points indicate different treatments as specified in the legend. Black solid lines indicate a significant effect between the variables. Grey shaded regions indicate the standard error (SE) of the statistical model used (linear regression).

# CONCLUSÃO

Nossos resultados indicam que a adição de P impacta as respostas de desenvolvimento acima do solo em condições de eCO<sub>2</sub>, mas não afeta as respostas fisiológicas, que são afetadas por eCO<sub>2</sub> independentemente de P. Em suma, esse estudo adiciona evidência experimental à hipótese de que, sem a quantidade necessária de P disponível no solo, espécies podem não responder a eCO<sub>2</sub> como esperado pelos atuais modelos. Se tais padrões se repetirem em outras espécies da mesma região, isso poderia representar grandes mudanças na ciclagem global de carbono, com impactos no sequestro de carbono pela região. Assim, estudos mais abrangentes que levam em consideração tanto a diversidade de espécies quanto de ambientes na floresta Amazônia merecem maior atenção.

# REFERÊNCIAS

- Ainsworth, E.A.; Long, S.P. 2005. What have we learned from 15 years of free-air CO2 enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy properties and plant production to rising CO2. *New Phytologist* 165: 351–372.
- Ainsworth, E.A.; Rogers, A. 2007. The response of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance to rising [CO 2]: Mechanisms and environmental interactions. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 30: 258–270.
- Ainsworth, E.A.; Long, S.P. 2021. 30 years of free-air carbon dioxide enrichment (FACE):
  What have we learned about future crop productivity and its potential for adaptation? *Global Change Biology* 27: 27–49.
- Amthor, J.S. 1991. Respiration in a future, higher-CO2 world. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 14: 13–20.
- Amthor, J.S. 1994. Plant respiratory responses to the environment and their effects on the carbon balance. *Plant–environment interactions*: 501–554.
- Amthor, J.S. 2000. Direct effect of elevated CO2 on nocturnal in situ leaf respiration in nine temperate deciduous tree species is small. *Tree Physiology* 20: 139–144.
- Araújo, A.C.; Nobre, A.D.; Kruijt, B.; Elbers, J.A.; Dallarosa, R.; Stefani, P.; et al. 2002. Comparative measurements of carbon dioxide fluxes from two nearby towers in a central

Amazonian rainforest: The Manaus LBA site. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 107: 8090.

- Atkin, O.K.; Evans, J.R.; Siebke, K. 1998. Relationship between the inhibition of leaf respiration by light and enhancement of leaf dark respiration following light treatment. *Aust. J. Plant Physiol* 26.
- Atkin, O.K.; Millar, A.H.; Gardeström, P.; Day, D.A. 2006. Photosynthesis , Carbohydrate Metabolism and Respiration in Leaves of Higher Plants. *Physiology*: 153–175.
- Atkin, O.K.; Evans, J.R.; Ball, M.C.; Lambers, H.; Pons, T.L. 2000. Leaf respiration of snow gum in the light and dark. Interactions between temperature and irradiance. *Plant Physiology* 122: 915–923.
- Ayub, G.; Smith, R.A.; Tissue, D.T.; Atkin, O.K. 2011. Impacts of drought on leaf respiration in darkness and light in Eucalyptus saligna exposed to industrial-age atmospheric CO2 and growth temperature. *New Phytologist* 190: 1003–1018.
- Ayub, G.; Zaragoza-Castells, J.; Griffin, K.L.; Atkin, O.K. 2014. Leaf respiration in darkness and in the light under pre-industrial, current and elevated atmospheric CO2 concentrations. *Plant Science* 226: 120–130.
- Azcón-Bieto, J.; Osmond, C.B. 1983. Relationship between Photosynthesis and Respiration. *Plant Physiology* 71: 574–581.
- Baker, N.R. 2008. Chlorophyll fluorescence: A probe of photosynthesis in vivo. Annual Review of Plant Biology 59: 89–113.

Barton, K. 2020. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. R package version 1.43.17. Version 1: 18.

- Bellasio, C.; Beerling, D.J.; Griffiths, H. 2016. An Excel tool for deriving key photosynthetic parameters from combined gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence: Theory and practice. *Plant Cell and Environment* 39: 1180–1197.
- Bonan, G.B. 2008. Forests and Climate Change : Climate Benefits of Forests. *Science* 320: 1444–1449.
- Brooks, A.; Farquhar, G.D. 1985. Effect of temperature on the CO2/O2 specificity of ribulose- 1,5-bisphospha te carbo xylase [0 xygenase and the rate of respiration in the

light. .

- Busch, F.A. 2013. Current methods for estimating the rate of photorespiration in leaves. *Plant Biology* 15: 648–655.
- Bykova, N. V.; Egsgaard, H.; Møller, I.M. 2003. Identification of 14 new phosphoproteins involved in important plant mitochondrial processes. *FEBS Letters* 540: 141–146.
- Carneiro, V.M.C.; Higuchi, N.; Santos, J.; Pinto, A.C.M.; Teixeira, M.; Lima, A.J.N.; et al. 2005. Composição Florística e Análise Estrutural da Floresta de Terra Firme na Região de Manaus, Estado do Amazonas, Brasil. *In Proceedings of the 5º Congresso Florestal Nacional—A Floresta e as Gentes*,.
- Cernusak, L.A.; Winter, K.; Martínez, C.; Correa, E.; Aranda, J.; Garcia, M.; et al. 2011. Responses of legume versus nonlegume tropical tree seedlings to elevated CO 2 concentration. *Plant Physiology* 157: 372–385.
- Cernusak, L.A.; Winter, K.; Dalling, J.W.; Holtum, J.A.M.; Jaramillo, C.; Körner, C.; et al. 2013. Tropical forest responses to increasing atmospheric CO2: Current knowledge and opportunities for future research. *Functional Plant Biology* 40: 531–551.
- Chambers, J.Q.; Higuchi, N.; Schimel, J.P.; Ferreira, L. V; Melack, J.M. 2000. Decomposition and carbon cycling of dead trees in tropical f. : 380–388.
- Chazdon, R.L.; Pearcy, R.W. 1991. *The Importance of Sunflecks for Forest Understory Plants.* Vol. 41.760–766p.
- Chiera, J.; Thomas, J.; Rufty, T. 2002. Leaf initiation and development in soybean under phosphorus stress. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53: 473–481.
- Crous, K.Y.; Zaragoza-Castells, J.; Ellsworth, D.S.; Duursma, R.A.; Löw, M.; Tissue, D.T.; et al. 2012. Light inhibition of leaf respiration in field-grown Eucalyptus saligna in wholetree chambers under elevated atmospheric CO2 and summer drought. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 35: 966–981.
- Crous, K.Y.; O'Sullivan, O.S.; Zaragoza-Castells, J.; Bloomfield, K.J.; Negrini, A.C.A.; Meir,
  P.; et al. 2017. Nitrogen and phosphorus availabilities interact to modulate leaf trait
  scaling relationships across six plant functional types in a controlled-environment study. *New Phytologist* 215: 992–1008.

- Drake, B.G.; Gonzàlez-Meler, M.A.; Long, S.P. 1997. More efficient plants: A Consequence of Rising Atmospheric CO2? *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 48: 609–639.
- Dusenge, M.E.; Duarte, A.G.; Way, D.A. 2019. Plant carbon metabolism and climate change: elevated CO2 and temperature impacts on photosynthesis, photorespiration and respiration. *New Phytologist* 221: 32–49.
- Ellsworth, D.S.; Crous, K.Y.; Lambers, H.; Cooke, J. 2015. Phosphorus recycling in photorespiration maintains high photosynthetic capacity in woody species. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 38: 1142–1156.
- Ellsworth, D.S.; Anderson, I.C.; Crous, K.Y.; Cooke, J.; Drake, J.E.; Gherlenda, A.N.; et al. 2017. Elevated CO2 does not increase eucalypt forest productivity on a low-phosphorus soil. *Nature Climate Change* 7: 279–282.
- Farquhar, G.D.; Caemmerer, S. Von; Berry, J.A. 1980. A Biochemical Model of Photosynthetic CO 2 Assimilation in Leaves of C 3 Species G.D. 90: 78–90.
- Ferreira, S.J.F.; Luizão, F.J.; Dallarosa, R.L.G. . Ferreira, Luizão, Dallarosa Unknown -Precipitação interna e interceptação da chuva em floresta de terra firme submetida à extração seletiva de madei.pdf. 35: 55–62.
- Fleischer, K.; Rammig, A.; De Kauwe, M.G.; Walker, A.P.; Domingues, T.F.; Fuchslueger,
  L.; et al. 2019. Amazon forest response to CO2 fertilization dependent on plant
  phosphorus acquisition. *Nature Geoscience* 12: 736–741.
- Fredeen, A.L.; Rao, I.M.; Terry, N. 1989. Influence of phosphorus nutrition on growth and carbon partitioning in Glycine max. *Plant Physiology* 89: 225–230.
- Friedlingstein, P.; Sullivan, M.O.; Jones, M.W.; Andrew, R.M.; Hauck, J. 2020. Global Carbon Budget 2020. 2020: 3269–3340.
- Genty, B.; Briantais, J.M.; Baker, N.R. 1989. The relationship between the quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - General Subjects* 990: 87–92.
- Gonzàlez-Meler, M.A.; Giles, L.; Thomas, R.B.; Siedow, J.N. 2001. Metabolic regulation of leaf respiration and alternative pathway activity in response to phosphate supply. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 24: 205–215.

- Griffin, K.L.; Turnbull, M.H. 2013. Light saturated RuBP oxygenation by Rubisco is a robust predictor of light inhibition of respiration in Triticum aestivum L. *Plant Biology* 15: 769–775.
- Hinsinger, P. 2001. Bioavailability of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as affected by rootinduced chemical changes: A review. *Plant and Soil*: 173–195.
- Hofhansl, F.; Andersen, K.M.; Fleischer, K.; Fuchslueger, L.; Rammig, A.; Schaap, K.J.; et al. 2016. Amazon forest ecosystem responses to elevated atmospheric Co2 and alterations in nutrient availability: Filling the gaps with model-experiment integration. *Frontiers in Earth Science* 4: 1–9.
- Hönisch, B.; Hemming, N.G.; Archer, D.; Siddall, M.; McManus, J.F. 2009. Atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration across the mid-pleistocene transition. *Science* 324: 1551– 1554.
- Hurry, V.; Igamberdiev, A.U.; Keerberg, O. 2005. Plant Respiration. Plant Respiration.
- Hurry, V.; Keerberg, O.; Pärnik, T.; Öquist, G.; Gardeström, P. 1996. Effect of Cold Hardening on the Components of Respiratory Decarboxylation in the Light and in the Dark in Leaves of Winter Rye. *Plant Physiology* 111: 713–719.
- Husson, A.F.; Josse, J.; Le, S.; Mazet, J.; Husson, M.F. 2020. Package ' FactoMineR .' .
- IPCC. 2014. Climate Change 2014 Mitigation of Climate Change. Summary for Policymakers. 1–30p.
- Jiang, M.; Caldararu, S.; Zaehle, S.; Ellsworth, D.S.; Medlyn, B.E. 2019. Towards a more physiological representation of vegetation phosphorus processes in land surface models. *New Phytologist* 222: 1223–1229.
- Jiang, M.; Caldararu, S.; Zhang, H.; Fleischer, K.; Crous, K.Y.; Yang, J.; et al. 2020. Low phosphorus supply constrains plant responses to elevated CO2: A meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology* 26: 5856–5873.
- Jones, D.; Hodge, A.; Kuzyakov, Y. 2004. Plant and mycorrhizal regulation of rhizodeposition. *New Phytologist* 163: 459–480.

Kassambara, A.; Mundt, F. 2020. Package ' factoextra .' CRAN- R Package: 84.

- Kong, D.L.; Wang, J.J.; Kardol, P.; Wu, H.F.; Zeng, H.; Deng, X.B.; et al. 2016. Economic strategies of plant absorptive roots vary with root diameter. *Biogeosciences* 13: 415–424.
- Kromer, S. 1995. Respiration During. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 46: 45-70.
- Lambers, H.; Raven, J.A.; Shaver, G.R.; Smith, S.E. 2008. Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 23: 95–103.
- Lapola, D.M. 2017. Amazon-FACE: Assessing the effects of increased atmospheric CO2 on the ecology and resilience of the Amazon forest - Science Plan and Implementation Strategy. : 51.
- Lapola, D.M.; Norby, R.J. 2014. Amazon-FACE: Assessing the effects of increased atmospheric CO2 on the ecology and resilience of the Amazon forest Science Plan and Implementation Strategy. : 51.
- Leadley, P.W.; Drake, B.G. 1993. Open top chambers for exposing plant canopies to elevated CO2 concentration and for measuring net gas exchange. *Vegetatio* 104–105: 3–15.
- Leakey, A.D.B.; Lau, J.A. 2012. Evolutionary context for understanding and manipulating plant responses to past, present and future atmospheric [CO2]. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 367: 613–629.
- Leakey, A.D.B.; Scholes, J.D.; Press, M.C. 2005. Physiological and ecological significance of sunflecks for dipterocarp seedlings. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 56: 469–482.
- Leakey, A.D.B.; Bishop, K.A.; Ainsworth, E.A. 2012. A multi-biome gap in understanding of crop and ecosystem responses to elevated CO 2. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 15: 228–236.
- Leakey, A.D.B.; Ainsworth, E.A.; Bernacchi, C.J.; Rogers, A.; Long, S.P.; Ort, D.R. 2009. Elevated CO2 effects on plant carbon, nitrogen, and water relations: Six important lessons from FACE. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 60: 2859–2876.
- Lobo, F. de A.; de Barros, M.P.; Dalmagro, H.J.; Dalmolin, Â.C.; Pereira, W.E.; de Souza,
  É.C.; et al. 2013. Fitting net photosynthetic light-response curves with Microsoft Excel a critical look at the models. *Photosynthetica* 51: 445–456.
- LONG, S.P. 1991. Modification of the response of photosynthetic productivity to rising

temperature by atmospheric CO2 concentrations: Has its importance been underestimated? *Plant, Cell & Environment* 14: 729–739.

- Loveys, B.R.; Scheurwater, I.; Pons, T.L.; Fitter, A.H.; Atkin, O.K. 2003. Erratum: Growth temperature influences the underlying components of relative growth rate: An investigation using inherently fast- and slow-growing plant species (Plant, Cell and Environment (2002) 25 (975-988)). *Plant, Cell and Environment* 26: 1927.
- Lugli, L.F.; Rosa, J.S.; Andersen, K.M.; Di Ponzio, R.; Almeida, R. V.; Pires, M.; et al. 2020. Rapid responses of root traits and productivity to phosphorus and cation additions in a tropical lowland forest in Amazonia. *New Phytologist*: 0–1.
- Lüthi, D.; Le Floch, M.; Bereiter, B.; Blunier, T.; Barnola, J.M.; Siegenthaler, U.; et al. 2008. High-resolution carbon dioxide concentration record 650,000-800,000 years before present. *Nature* 453: 379–382.
- Magnusson, A.; Skaug, H.; Nielsen, A.; Berg, C.; Kristensen, K.; Maechler, M.; et al. 2020. Package 'glmmTMB.' R package. Version 1.0.2.1p.
- McCashin, B.G.; Cossins, E.A.; Canvin, D.T. 1988. Dark Respiration during Photosynthesis in Wheat Leaf Slices. *Plant Physiology* 87: 155–161.
- Nakagawa, S.; Schielzeth, H. 2013. A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 4: 133–142.
- Norby, R.J.; Zak, D.R. 2011. Ecological and evolutionary lessons from free air carbon enhancement (FACE) experiments. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 42.
- Norby, R.J.; Warren, J.M.; Iversen, C.M.; Medlyn, B.E.; McMurtrie, R.E. 2010. CO2 enhancement of forest productivity constrained by limited nitrogen availability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107: 19368–19373.
- Norby, R.J.; DeLucia, E.H.; Gielen, B.; Calfapietra, C.; Giardina, C.P.; King, J.S.; et al. 2005.
  Forest response to elevated CO2 is conserved across a broad range of productivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102: 18052–18056.
- Norby, R.J.; Wullschleger, S.D.; Gunderson, C.A.; Nietch, C.T. 1995. Increased growth efficiency of Quercus alba trees in a CO2-enriched atmosphere. *New Phytologist* 131:

91–97.

- O'Leary, B.M.; Asao, S.; Millar, A.H.; Atkin, O.K. 2019. Core principles which explain variation in respiration across biological scales. *New Phytologist* 222: 670–686.
- Oren, R.; Ellsworth, D.S.; Johnsen, K.H.; Phillips, N.; Ewers, B.E.; Maier, C.; et al. 2001. Soil fertility limits carbon sequestration by forest ecosystems in a CO2-enriched atmosphere. *Nature* 411: 469–472.
- Pagani, M.; Caldeira, K.; Berner, R.; Beerling, D.J. 2009. The role of terrestrial plants in limiting atmospheric CO2 decline over the past 24 million years. *Nature* 460: 85–88.
- Pan, Y.; Birdsey, R. a; Fang, J.; Houghton, R.; Kauppi, P.E.; Kurz, W. a; et al. 2011. A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 333: 988–993.
- Pandey, R.; Zinta, G.; AbdElgawad, H.; Ahmad, A.; Jain, V.; Janssens, I.A. 2015. Physiological and molecular alterations in plants exposed to high [CO2] under phosphorus stress. *Biotechnology Advances* 33: 303–316.
- Pärnik, T.; Keerberg, O. 1995. Decarboxylation of primary and end products of photosynthesis at different oxygen concentrations. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 46: 1439–1477.
- Pärnik, T.R.; Voronin, P.Y.; Ivanova, H.N.; Keerberg, O.F. 2002. Respiratory CO2 fluxes in photosynthesizing leaves of C 3 species varying in rates of starch synthesis. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology* 49: 729–735.
- Paul, M.J.; Foyer, C.H. 2001. Sink regulation of photosynthesis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 52: 1383–1400.
- Pérez-Harguindeguy, N.; Díaz, S.; Garnier, E.; Lavorel, S.; Poorter, H.; Jaureguiberry, P.; et al. 2016. Corrigendum to: New handbook for standardised measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. *Australian Journal of Botany* 64: 715.
- Pfitsch, W.A.; Pearcy, R.W. 1989. Daily carbon gain by Adenocaulon bicolor (Asteraceae), a redwood forest understory herb, in relation to its light environment. *Oecologia* 80: 465– 470.
- Phillips, O.L.; Aragão, L.E.O.C.; Lewis, S.L.; Fisher, J.B.; Lloyd, J.; López-gonzález, G.; et

al. 2009. Drought Sensitivity of the Amazon Rainforest. 323: 1344–1347.

- Pimentel, C.; Oliveira, R.F. de; Ribeiro, R.V.; Santos, M.G. dos; Machado, E.C. 2011. Características fotossintéticas de Phaseolus vulgaris L. *Hoehnea* 38: 273–280.
- Plaxton, W.C.; Podestá, F.E. 2006. The functional organization and control of plant respiration. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 25: 159–198.
- Plaxton, W.C.; Tran, H.T. 2011. Metabolic adaptations of phosphate-starved plants. *Plant Physiology* 156: 1006–1015.
- Poorter, L.; Castilho, C. V.; Schietti, J.; Oliveira, R.S.; Costa, F.R.C. 2018. Can traits predict individual growth performance? A test in a hyperdiverse tropical forest. *New Phytologist* 219: 109–121.
- Productivity, C. 1989. Respiration and crop productivity. Vol. 27.27-1532-27-1532p.
- Quesada, C.A.; Lloyd, J.; Anderson, L.O.; Fyllas, N.M.; Schwarz, M.; Czimczik, C.I. 2011. Soils of Amazonia with particular reference to the RAINFOR sites. *Biogeosciences* 8: 1415–1440.
- Quesada, C.A.; Phillips, O.L.; Schwarz, M.; Czimczik, C.I.; Baker, T.R.; Patiño, S.; et al. 2012. Basin-wide variations in Amazon forest structure and function are mediated by both soils and climate. *Biogeosciences* 9: 2203–2246.
- R Core, T. 2020. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. .
- Rao, I.M.; Terry, N. 1995. Leaf phosphate status, photosynthesis, and carbon partitioning in sugar beet. IV. Changes with time following increased supply of phosphate to lowphosphate plants. *Plant Physiology* 107: 1313–1321.
- Reich, P.B.; Hobbie, S.E.; Lee, T.; Ellsworth, D.S.; West, J.B.; Tilman, D.; et al. 2006.
  Nitrogen limitation constrains sustainability of ecosystem response to CO2. *Nature* 440: 922–925.
- Santiago, L.S. 2015. Nutrient limitation of eco-physiological processes in tropical trees. *Trees* - *Structure and Function* 29: 1291–1300.
- Santiago, L.S.; Wright, S.J.; Harms, K.E.; Yavitt, J.B.; Korine, C.; Garcia, M.N.; et al. 2012. Tropical tree seedling growth responses to nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium addition.
Journal of Ecology 100: 309–316.

- Sharkey, T.D. 1988. Estimating the rate of photorespiration in leaves. *Physiologia Plantarum* 73: 147–152.
- Sharkey, T.D.; Bernacchi, C.J.; Farquhar, G.D.; Singsaas, E.L. 2007. Fitting photosynthetic carbon dioxide response curves for C3 leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 30: 1035– 1040.
- Springer, C.J.; Thomas, R.B. 2007. Photosynthetic responses of forest understory tree species to long-term exposure to elevated carbon dioxide concentration at the Duke Forest FACE experiment. *Tree Physiology* 27: 25–32.
- Taiz, L.; Zeiger, E.; Møller, I.M.; Murphy., A. 2006. *Plant physiology and development*. Vol. 6.410p.
- Tanaka, L.M.D.S.; Satyamurty, P.; Machado, L.A.T. 2014. Diurnal variation of precipitation in central Amazon Basin. *International Journal of Climatology* 34: 3574–3584.
- Tcherkez, G.; Atkin, O.K. 2021. Unravelling mechanisms and impacts of day respiration in plant leaves: an introduction to a Virtual Issue. *New Phytologist* 230: 5–10.
- Tcherkez, G.; Boex-Fontvieille, E.; Mahé, A.; Hodges, M. 2012. Respiratory carbon fluxes in leaves. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 15: 308–314.
- Tcherkez, G.; Cornic, G.; Bligny, R.; Gout, E.; Ghashghaie, J. 2005. In vivo respiratory metabolism of illuminated leaves. *Plant Physiology* 138: 1596–1606.
- Tcherkez, G.; Bligny, R.; Gout, E.; Mahé, A.; Hodges, M.; Cornic, G. 2008. Respiratory metabolism of illuminated leaves depends on CO2 and O2 conditions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105: 797–802.
- Tcherkez, G.; Gauthier, P.; Buckley, T.N.; Busch, F.A.; Barbour, M.M.; Bruhn, D.; et al. 2017. Leaf day respiration: low CO2 flux but high significance for metabolism and carbon balance. *New Phytologist* 216: 986–1001.
- Thompson, J.B.; Slot, M.; Dalling, J.W.; Winter, K.; Turner, B.L.; Zalamea, P.C. 2019. Species-specific effects of phosphorus addition on tropical tree seedling response to elevated CO2. *Functional Ecology* 33: 1871–1881.

- Treseder, K.K.; Vitousek, P.M. 2001. Effects os soil nutrient availability on investment of N and P in Hawaian rain forest. *Ecology* 82: 946–954.
- Vicca, S.; Luyssaert, S.; Peñuelas, J.; Campioli, M.; Chapin, F.S.; Ciais, P.; et al. 2012. Fertile forests produce biomass more efficiently. *Ecology Letters* 15: 520–526.
- Vieira, S.; De Camargo, P.B.; Selhorst, D.; Da Silva, R.; Hutyra, L.; Chambers, J.Q.; et al. 2004. Forest structure and carbon dynamics in Amazonian tropical rain forests. *Oecologia* 140: 468–479.
- Vitousek, P.M.; Howarth, R.W. 1991. Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: How can it occur? *Biogeochemistry* 13: 87–115.
- Vitousek, P.M.; Porder, S.; Houlton, B.Z.; Chadwick, O.A. 2010. Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: Mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen-phosphorus interactions. *Ecological Applications* 20: 5–15.
- Walker, T.W.; Syers, J.K. 1976. The fate of phosphorus during pedogenesis. *Geoderma* 15: 1–19.
- Wang, X.; Lewis, J.D.; Tissue, D.T.; Seemann, J.R.; Griffin, K.L. 2001. Effects of elevated atmospheric CO2 concentration on leaf dark respiration of Xanthium strumarium in light and in darkness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 98: 2479–2484.
- Way, D.A.; Oren, R.; Kroner, Y. 2015. The space-time continuum: The effects of elevated CO2 and temperature on trees and the importance of scaling. *Plant Cell and Environment* 38: 991–1007.
- Winter, K.; Garcia, M.; Gottsberger, R.; Popp, M. 2001. Marked growth response of communities of two tropical tree species to elevated CO2 when soil nutrient limitation is removed. *Flora* 196: 47–58.
- Wullschleger, S.D.; Ziska, L.H.; Bunce, J.A. 1994. Respiratory responses of higher plants to atmospheric CO2 enrichment. *Physiologia Plantarum* 90: 221–229.
- Wullschleger, S.D.; Norby, R.J.; Gunderson, C.A. 1992. Growth and maintenance respiration in leaves of Liriodendron tulipifera L. exposed to long-term carbon dioxide enrichment in the field. *New Phytologist* 121: 515–523.

- Xu, Z.; Jiang, Y.; Zhou, G. 2015. Response and adaptation of photosynthesis, respiration, and antioxidant systems to elevated CO2 with environmental stress in plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 6: 1–17.
- Yin, X.; Sun, Z.; Struik, P.C.; Gu, J. 2011. Evaluating a new method to estimate the rate of leaf respiration in the light by analysis of combined gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 62: 3489–3499.
- Yin, X.; Struik, P.C.; Romero, P.; Harbinson, J.; Evers, J.B.; Van Der Putten, P.E.L.; et al. 2009. Using combined measurements of gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence to estimate parameters of a biochemical C3 photosynthesis model: A critical appraisal and a new integrated approach applied to leaves in a wheat (Triticum aestivum) canopy. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 32: 448–464.
- Zaragoza-Castells, J.; Sánchez-Gómez, D.; Valladares, F.; Hurry, V.; Atkin, O.K. 2007. Does growth irradiance affect temperature dependence and thermal acclimation of leaf respiration? Insights from a Mediterranean tree with long-lived leaves. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 30: 820–833.
- Zhao, M.; Running, S.W. 2010. Drought-induced reduction in global terrestrial net primary production from 2000 through 2009. *Science* 329: 940–943.